University of Alberta

Intracranial Pressure Changes in Rat Models of Intracerebral Hemorrhage

by

Carmen Hiploylee

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Psychology Department

©Carmen Hiploylee Fall 2013 Edmonton, Alberta

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Libraries to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only. Where the thesis is converted to, or otherwise made available in digital form, the University of Alberta will advise potential users of the thesis of these terms.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis and, except as herein before provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatsoever without the author's prior written permission.

DEDICATION

I wish to dedicate my thesis to my parents, George and Li Chang Hiploylee.

ABSTRACT

Intracerebral hemorrhage (ICH) is a devastating subtype of stroke but the role of increased intracranial pressure (ICP) in ICH is unclear - especially since most studies measure ICP in rodents tethered or under anesthesia or restraint. Thus, ICP was measured using telemetry in untethered, awake rats after ICH for 4 days. In PART 1, no pressure differences were found between the site of injury and epidural space. In PART 2, a severe ICH increased ICP for 4 days with modest reductions in cerebral perfusion pressure. In PART 3, moderate to severe ICHs were compared in different models of ICH. When ICH was induced by a collagenase infusion, ICP was increased for 2 days. However, ICP did not increase when the ICH was induced by a whole blood infusion. Lastly, increases in edema correlated with increases in ICP. These findings demonstrate ICH model differences that must be considered when evaluating therapies.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

First and foremost I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Fred Colbourne, for his much appreciated guidance and patience throughout my Master's degree. His mentorship and support have been vital for my academic development.

I would also like to thank my committee members Drs. Clayton Dickson and Dallas Treit for their support and valuable feedback.

I am grateful to Dr. Yonglie Ma and Justin Witzke for their technical help. Their assistance has helped my experiments run smoothly.

I warmly acknowledge my labmates. Thank you for embracing me with friendly faces and supporting me. I have learned a lot from all of you.

I would also like to thank Ben Zalkind for his encouragement, generosity and thoughtfulness. Thank you for driving me to the lab at ungodly hours of the night (3:00am, 3:50am and 4:40am) for numerous days to ensure my time points were accomplished accordingly.

Of course, I need to thank my family and friends back home. Their endless love and support were absolutely crucial for my progress. They have inspired my work ethic and morale to help me accomplish this degree. Finally, I would like to especially thank my parents. Their inexorable anxiety about my physical and mental well-being is both heartwarming and endearing.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1

1. Introduction
1.1 Intracerebral Hemorrhage
1.1.1 Clinical and Behavioural Manifestation
1.1.2 Pathophysiology
1.1.3 Animal Models of ICH5
1.1.4 Edema9
1.2 Intracranial Pressure
1.2.1 Location and Method of Intracranial Pressure Monitoring
1.3 Cerebral Perfusion Pressure
1.4 Therapeutic Management of Elevated ICP
1.5 ICP vs. CPP
1.6 Rationale
CHAPTER 2

2.	Methods	27

2.1 A	nimals	. 27
2.2 E	xperiments	. 27
2.2.1	Part 1: Location of ICP monitoring	. 27
2.2.2	Part 2: Stroke-induced CPP changes	. 28
2.2.3	Part 3: Comparing ICP in different ICH Models	. 28
2.3 T	elemetry Probes and System	. 29
2.3.1	Pressure Drift	. 29
2.4 V	alsalva Manoeuvre	. 30
2.5 IC	CP Assembly	. 30
2.5.1	Cranial ICP Apparatus	. 30
2.5.2	Cannulas	. 31
2.6 S	urgery	. 31
2.6.1	Intracerebral Hemorrhage	. 31
2.6.2	ICP implant	. 32
2.6.3	MAP surgery	. 33
2.7 W	Vater Content Assessment	. 34
2.8 H	istological Preparation and Quantification	. 34

2.9	Statistics	3	5
-----	------------	---	---

CHAPTER 3

3.	R	esul	ts	36
	3.1	Exc	clusions	36
	3.2	Mo	rtality	36
	3.3	Par	t 1: No difference between location of ICP monitoring	37
	3.3	.1	Brain Edema	37
	3.4	Par	t 2: Modest reductions in CPP after severe ICH	38
	3.4	.1	Heart Rate	38
	3.4	.2	ICP	38
	3.4	.3	Blood Pressure	39
	3.4	.4	CPP	39
	3.4	.5	Lesion Volume	39
	3.5	Par	t 3: ICP rises only found in the collagenase model	40
	3.5	.1	Brain Edema	40
	3.5	.2	ICP	40
	3.5	.3	Water Content Vs. ICP	41

CHAPTER 4

4. Dise	cussion
4.1	Primary Findings
4.2	Animal models and ICP
4.3	The importance of edema 44
4.4	Intracranial pressure and edema 46
4.5	Pressure Gradients
4.6	Physiological Parameters
4.7	Limitations
4.8	Future Directions
4.9	Conclusions 57
BIBLI	OGRAPHY59

LIST OF TABLES

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Monro-Kellie doctrine	. 79
Figure 2. Cerebral autoregulation curve	. 80
Figure 3. Cranial ICP assembly.	. 81
Figure 4. PART 1: Excluded animal - mortality	. 82
Figure 5. PART 1: Excluded animal – small hematoma	. 83
Figure 6. PART 1: Intraparenchymal vs. Epidural ICP monitoring	. 84
Figure 7. PART 1: Day 3 brain water content after severe ICH	. 85
Figure 8. PART 2: HR after severe ICH	. 86
Figure 9. PART 2: ICP after severe ICH	. 87
Figure 10. PART 2: BP after severe ICH	. 88
Figure 11. PART 2: CPP after severe ICH	. 89
Figure 12. PART 2: Lesion volume vs. Peak ICP	. 90
Figure 13. PART 3: Day 3 brain water content after moderate-severe ICH	. 91
Figure 14. PART 3: ICP after moderate-severe ICH	. 92
Figure 15. Day 3 water content vs. Day 3 ICP	. 93
Figure 16. Hours over 1 SD above sham vs. Day 3 brain water content	. 94

LIST OF ACRONYMS

EPI-ICH – Intracranial pressure monitored in the epidural space of rats with an intracerebral hemorrhage

EPI-SHAM - Intracranial pressure monitored in the epidural space of rats without

an intracerebral hemorrhage

BBB – Blood brain barrier

BL - Baseline

BP - Blood pressure

BPM – Beats per minute

CBF - Cerebral blood flow

CBV - Cerebral blood volume

COLLAG - Rats with an intracerebral hemorrhage induced by the collagenase

model

CSF - Cerebral spinal fluid

CPP - Cerebral perfusion pressure

GCS – Glasgow coma scale

HR - Heart rate

ICH – Intracerebral hemorrhage

ICP – Intracranial pressure

INTRA-ICH – Intracranial pressure monitored in the intraparenchymal space of

rats with an intracerebral hemorrhage

INTRA-SHAM - Intracranial pressure monitored in the intraparenchymal space

of rats without an intracerebral hemorrhage

MAP - Mean arterial pressure

- SD Standard deviation
- SHAM Rats without an intracerebral hemorrhage but underwent a similar

surgery

- TBI Traumatic brain injury
- WB-Rats with an intracerebral hemorrhage induced by the whole blood model

CHAPTER 1

1. Introduction

Stroke is one of the leading causes of disability and second leading cause of death worldwide.¹ About a third of those affected die and another third live with permanent disability.² With approximately 50,000 new cases in Canada annually,³ the associated medical costs, productive years of life lost and burden to caregivers and patients sums to a devastating multi-billion dollar healthcare cost.² Though stroke incidence is decreasing in some populations due to advances in medical care, the absolute number of stroke cases continues to rise due to the aging and increasing population.

Strokes can be broadly classified into 2 categories: ischemic strokes and hemorrhagic strokes. Ischemic strokes occur in 80% of all stroke cases and hemorrhagic strokes 20% of the time. However, brain hemorrhages are often seen in severe cases of traumatic brain injury (TBI).⁴ Ischemic strokes result from a lack of cerebral blood supply due to embolism (clot builds in brain but originated elsewhere), thrombosis (clot builds and originated at the site of occlusion), or systemic hypoperfusion (overall reduction in blood flow). Hemorrhagic strokes result from a rupture of a cerebral vessel, leading to a buildup of blood called a hematoma. Primary hemorrhagic strokes can occur due to chronic hypertension and amyloid angiopathy, which are the two most common causes. ICH can also occur secondarily to drug abuse, physical activity, coagulation disorders, use of anticoagulants, ischemic transformation, arteriovenous malformation, TBI, tumours or aneurysms.⁵⁵ This can occur in the subarachnoid space or in brain

tissue. When bleeding takes place in the brain tissue, this is called an intracerebral hemorrhage (ICH) and occurs twice as often than subarachnoid hemorrhage.⁶

1.1 Intracerebral Hemorrhage

The second-most common stroke is ICH (9-15% of all strokes),⁷ resulting in an overwhelming 30-day mortality rate of 40.4%. Devastatingly, half of these patients die in the first 2 days.⁸ The chance of survivors to return to independent functioning has been reported from 12-39% however, this does not equate to prestroke functioning.⁹ In these patients, outlook heavily depends on pre-existing comorbidities, age, hematoma size and location.^{8, 10-12} In the acute phase of injury however, 30-day mortality was correlated with low levels of consciousness, as determined by the Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS) (scores range from 3-15; lower scores indicate worse injury) and hematoma volume.⁸ These factors along with the presence of intraventricular extension (bleed extending into the ventricular system), age above 80 and an infratentorial origin can collectively predict mortality.^{13,14} Based on the aforementioned predictors, patients can be scored on an ordinal grading scale that sums to an ICH score.¹³ The ICH score has been validated by others to predict mortality.¹⁴ Otherwise, predicting outcome in ICH patients is difficult and currently no dedicated treatment exists for ICH.

1.1.1 Clinical and Behavioural Manifestation

Clinical presentation in acute ICH depends on location and severity of the stroke. The most common sites for ICH are in the subcortical regions (eg.

thalamus, striatum) particularly in the basal ganglia, which receive inputs from the motor and somatosensory cortex. This will present as motor and sensory deficits.¹⁵ Subcortical hemorrhages are usually associated with hypertension, defined as chronic pressure above 140 mm Hg/90 mm Hg (systolic/diastolic). Chronic hypertension can lead to a small vessel disease called lipohyalinosis which is characterized by the loss of arterial integrity due to the thickening of the arterial wall with the narrowing of the vessel lumen.¹⁶ Hypertensive hemorrhages occur when these vulnerable, small vessels rupture due to the high pressure imposed by the parent vessel.¹⁷ The second most frequent location are in the lobar regions and the common underlying cause is cerebral amyloid angiopathy, in which amyloid (fibrous protein aggregates) deposits are found on the arterial wall. Lobar hemorrhages can present as seizures, weakness or visual problems, depending on the lobe affected.⁵

In the clinical setting, focal neurologic deterioration progresses over a few minutes to hours mainly owing to hematoma expansion (toxicity of blood damages surrounding brain tissue causing rebleeding) and cerebral edema (tissue swelling). This severe mass effect can lead to headache, vomiting and decreased levels of consciousness.

<u>1.1.2</u> Pathophysiology

Injury after ICH can be broadly classified into primary and secondary injury. Primary injury involves mechanical damage owing to the space-occupying effects of the initial bleed and hematoma expansion.¹⁸⁻²⁰ Secondary injury involves mass

effect, toxicity of blood, coagulation cascade (involved in blood clotting), neuronal injury, inflammatory response, blood brain barrier (BBB) permeability, seizures and edema.^{5, 21-24} These mechanisms of injury will be further discussed below.

The mass effect of cerebral edema and growing hematoma can cause a midline shift of the brain. Maximal hematomal expansion can occur within an hour¹⁹ or up to 2 days and is a significant determinant of mortality and outcome, particularly in the first 24 hours.²⁵ Also in patients, two waves of mass effect have been described: 1) the first wave is caused by hematoma expansion, in the first two days and 2) second wave is caused by edema progression in the second or third week after onset.²⁶⁻²⁸

Due to the increasing volumes within the skull, mass effect and increases in intracranial pressure (ICP) can compress tissue surrounding the hematoma to ischemic levels.²⁹ However, perihematomal ischemic regions were not observed in animals^{30, 31} or humans^{32, 33} and these regions were found to be only hypoperfused. Additionally, reductions in blood volume rebounded 3-5 days after ICH³⁴ and regional cerebral blood flow (CBF) was even found to rebound within hours.^{21, 35} These studies did not find markers of ischemia or resulting structural damage respectively^{34, 35} however, the effects of hypoperfusion for these durations is unknown. Furthermore, these drops in regional CBF may be significant if metabolic demand was maintained at 'normal' levels but this was not the case.³⁶ Additionally, blood pressure (BP) lowering treatments did not reduce CBF.^{37, 38}

The debate of whether a perihematomal ischemic region exists remains unresolved.

The presence of red blood cells in brain tissue also plays a significant role in injury. Red blood cells lyse within 24 hours of ICH in response to the activation of the complement cascade (part of the immune system for cleanup) and loss of intracellular energy stores.³⁹ This of course, contributes to cell death, behavioural deficits, BBB permeability, inflammation, oxidative stress and edema.^{22, 24, 40, 41} Furthermore, red blood cells release iron that also contribute to the aforementioned injury and can be found in the brain for at least 3 months after ICH.⁴² Thrombin, involved in the coagulation cascade and blood clotting also increases pro-inflammatory factors, reactive oxygen species, BBB permeability and edema.^{22, 43} Inflammation can also further increase oxidative stress and edema.^{23, 41, 44}

ICH can also lead to seizures, especially after a lobar ICH.⁴⁵ Post-ICH seizures occur in 28% of patients in the first 72 hours and were correlated with a midline shift.⁴⁶ Interestingly, those with a raised ICP did not present with seizure activity⁴⁷ but those that experienced electrographic seizure activity after a TBI also experienced a higher ICP and increased metabolic distress than those who did not. The authors claim increases in ICP were likely to be due to increased CBF and volume.⁴⁸ However, research in ICP and seizures remains limited.

1.1.3 Animal Models of ICH

Animal stroke models are used to understand the mechanisms of injury and recovery as well as to evaluate putative therapies for the clinic. However, animal stroke models became questionable after therapies proven to be efficacious in laboratory settings failed to translate to the clinic.^{49,50, 51} This brought upon the issues of 1) whether the animal models used were appropriate to evaluate such treatments; 2) clinical and animal study design; and 3) whether the best therapies were selected for clinical trials. A systematic review later demonstrated that the scarce preclinical studies of higher quality (eg. blinded assessments, long-term endpoints) yielded lower efficacy of stroke treatments whereas the numerous, lower quality studies overestimated drug efficacy. The exaggerated promise of these drugs in animal studies led to the inevitable failure of clinical trials.⁵² Thus, carefully planned studies of high quality are integral to improving clinical translation.

Problems in successfully translating scientific advances from bench to bedside however, are partly owing to current ICH animal models that do not entirely mimic human ICH pathophysiology. This underscores the importance of studying therapies in more clinically relevant situations (eg. use of aged animals) and in multiple models, as each model has their unique set of advantages and disadvantages. Also, the use of different animals is especially important too as rats have little white matter compared to humans. Pigs have comparable white matter content but such studies are expensive. However, only 5.8% of ICH studies investigated white matter injury in animals which is particularly concerning.⁵³ Nevertheless, the face validity of these models still requires further elucidation.

Animal models of ICH are primarily used in rodents but dog, cat, porcine and non-human primates are used too.⁵⁴ The two most common ICH models are the whole blood model and the collagenase model which will be discussed in detail in the following paragraphs.⁴⁹⁵³ Both are capable of triggering cerebral edema, cell injury, an inflammatory response, oxidative stress and BBB permeability.⁵⁵ These models may vary slightly from lab to lab and are commonly used to create striatal hemorrhages (the most common site in patients).¹⁵ Cortical, cerebellar and hippocampal ICH have been done too but are far less common.¹⁵ Other ICH models include inflatable balloons to emulate a space-occupying mass,⁵⁶ hypertensive stroke-prone rats,⁵⁷ or even ischemic-induced hematomas. However, the last time this model was used was in 1976 in non-human primates.⁵⁸

The whole blood model involves injecting blood, usually autologous, into the brain creating a single, monophasic bleed. It was first performed by Ropper, in which 240-280 μ l of allogeneic blood was infused into the basal ganglia of unanesthetized rats.⁵⁹ Bullock later adapted the model by infusing whole blood under arterial blood pressure to be more clinically relevant. However, a large range in hematoma size was found.⁶⁰ A study by Nath *et al.* used controlled blood volumes of 25, 50 and 100 μ l in an attempt to create consistent lesions except blood volume did not relate to hematoma shape.⁶¹ Later, Deinsberger *et al.* was successful in hematoma reproducibility by the double injection method. A small amount of blood was first infused and allowed to clot to prevent blood from traveling back up the needle track. The remaining blood was subsequently infused. A total 80 μ l blood injection led to a 43.7 μ l ± 6.7 (standard error) clot

volume (measured by image analysis on serial stained sections), whereas a 50 µl blood infusion was more successful, resulting to a 41.1 µl ± 10.0 (standard error) clot. However, it was not entirely clear when clot volume was assessed, leading one to believe assessment was performed immediately after ICH.⁶² Interestingly, a magnetic resonance imaging study demonstrated a 100 µl blood injection resulted in a hematoma volume of 85.34 µl ± 6.25 (standard error), 12 hours after ICH. This suggests not all blood infused in the brain, stays.⁶³ This has also been demonstrated by other researchers.^{64, 65}

Advantages of the whole blood model include the option to infuse blood under arterial blood pressure rather than an artificial rate of injection and the option to infuse whole blood or its components. On the other hand, precise blood volume control is difficult as not all the blood infused would remain in brain tissue and some even traveling back along the needle tract.^{63, 66} Also, ventricular extension,⁶⁰ hematoma shape and location inconsistency,⁶¹ quick resolution of both the hematoma and behavioural deficits,⁶³ hemoglobin crystallization causing an excessive inflammatory response⁶⁷ and the absence of a vessel rupture are all problems associated with the model.

The other most commonly used model involves stereotaxically injecting collagenase into the brain. Collagenase is an enzyme that breaks down the basal lamina surrounding cerebral vessels to create a spontaneous bleed. It was developed by Rosenberg *et al.* in which bleeding was seen as soon as 10 minutes, hematoma growth from 1-4 hours and a fully developed hematoma by 4-24 hours.^{63, 68} This model is advantageous because it simulates a spontaneous bleed

and hemorrhage size/severity can be easily modified depending on the collagenase dose administered.⁶⁹ Hematoma size can also be variable in this model but can generally stay within its intended location depending upon its size. However, it is associated with greater secondary injury when compared to the whole blood model^{63, 70} and has shown hemoglobin crystallization too.⁶⁷ Greater functional deficits were also detected in collagenase animals up to 28 days whereas whole blood animals returned to baseline levels by 21 days.⁶³ This study used the Neurologic Deficit Scale to gauge functional recovery though, which was shown to be insensitive to small differences in ICH severity.⁷¹ These features however are not necessarily downfalls of the collagenase model but should be considered during experimental design.

The use of more clinically relevant models (eg. aged, hypertensive animals) is strongly encouraged as frequently used ICH models do not mirror important aspects of ICH such as the time course of cerebral edema which will be briefly discussed in the subsequent section.^{53, 72}

<u>1.1.4 Edema</u>

Brain edema is popularly classified as cytotoxic edema or vasogenic edema. Cytotoxic edema is the abnormal accumulation of fluid intracellularly from a toxic agent and cell dysfunction. Vasogenic edema occurs when vessel injury induces vessel fluid to spill into brain tissue.⁷³ Both of these types occur in ICH and ischemic stroke but the progression, resolution and possible interaction between cytotoxic and vasogenic edema remains unclear. Additionally, cytotoxic

and vasogenic edema are induced by different mechanisms of injury in ICH and ischemic stroke. Thus, antiedema therapies applicable to one stroke may not always be applicable to the other – though, this should usually be the case.

Three waves of edema are described after ICH.^{15, 74, 75} The first phase occurs in the initial hours where serum proteins (eg. albumins, fibrinogens) from the hematoma move to adjacent tissue.^{21, 34, 36} The next phase occurs over the first couple of days due to thrombin release and the coagulation cascade. Thrombin is released relatively quickly after ICH and causes edema to peak 1-2 days after.²⁴ Additionally, unheparanized blood infusions induced edema immediately whereas heparinized blood did not, demonstrating that clot formation was necessary to induce edema.⁷⁶ This was similarly shown when comparing the edema volume between patients with a spontaneous ICH and patients with an ICH induced by thrombolytics (drugs that dissolve blood clots). Patients with thrombolysis-related ICHs had half of the edema volume experienced by those with a spontaneous ICH. However, computed tomography scans were taken within 3 hours of onset and whether or not those with thrombolysis-related ICHs experienced a delayed edema progression is unclear.⁷⁷ Lastly, the third wave of edema is due to blood degradation products after red blood cell lysis.⁷⁸ Animal studies of whole blood infusions demonstrate edema to peak later than if thrombin was infused alone, suggesting a delayed wave of edema.²⁴ Similarly in patients, edema progresses despite hematoma resolution at 10 days after ICH, due to the ongoing clot lysis.⁷⁹

As mentioned, edema peaks on the third day in animal models⁸⁰ and has been shown to be resolved by the fifth day⁸¹ - though other studies have found it to be

within 2 weeks instead.⁸⁰ In patients, edema growth is highest in the first 48 hours, doubles 7-11 days later and peaks around the end of the second week to the third week.^{26-28, 82} However, not all patients with progressive edema showed neurological deterioration.⁸³ Neurological deterioration was also not clearly attributed to cerebral edema in noncomatose patients and did not occur in all patients with a large hematoma (> 50 ml).⁸⁴ During the first 3 days after ICH, both neurological status and edema were shown to worsen, but neurological status improved as edema continued to progress and peak at 14 days.⁸² In animal studies however, neurological deficits demonstrate a correlation between edema severity and onset which were both resolved by 2 weeks.^{80, 85} This temporal discrepancy between rodents and humans poses as a potential concern for evaluating antiedema treatments. Nevertheless, the clinical impact on edema reducing therapies are not clear on functional outcome.⁸⁶

1.2 Intracranial Pressure

Normal ICP in adult humans is below 15 mm Hg but values change according to body/head position and high elevations can be seen during coughing or sneezing. ICP in children are usually lower and can even be sub-atmospheric in the first few days of life.⁸⁷ Pathological levels of ICP are considered to be ≥ 20 mm Hg which can be caused by hydrocephalus, space-occupying masses and brain injury. Space-occupying masses have been observed to cause pressure gradients in patients,⁸⁸⁻⁹⁰ where higher pressures are found closer to the spaceoccupying mass. However, Yano *et al.* did not find this in patients with

intracranial lesions⁹¹ and interhemispheric pressure gradients of 30 mm Hg were found even without a intracranial mass-occupying lesion.⁹² Pressure gradients are also found in experimental animal models,⁹³⁻⁹⁶ but these included inflatable balloons and not in models of brain injury. Overall, when and how these pressure gradients exist or originate from is not entirely elucidated. More research is required in animal models of brain injury to determine these pressure gradients.

The concept of ICP can be best understood when considering the intracranial components: brain tissue, blood and cerebral spinal fluid (CSF). These incompressible components are encased in a relatively closed skull. When one of the compartments increases in volume, other intracranial components must be displaced in order to compensate for the change (eg. CSF reabsorbed into venous blood outflow). This is brain compliance and healthy individuals can sustain high ICP levels quite well. In CSF infusion studies, ICP levels up to 40 mm Hg were observed in subjects without being symptomatic.^{97, 98} This is due to the uninterrupted CSF space in normal individuals that can change after brain injury.⁹⁹

After brain injury however, factors such as obstruction of the ventricular system or introduction of a mass lesion can allow brain compliance to be compromised. Increases in ICP can lead to CSF and/or blood displacement, owing to the aforementioned perihematomal ischemia argument. In situations where brain compliance fails, a given increase in volume causes a greater increase in pressure than if brain compliance was intact. Thus, a nonlinear relationship exists between intracranial volume and pressure. This pressure-volume relationship is

referred to the Monro-Kellie doctrine (Figure 1). Of course, other factors such as CBF and rate of intracranial volume increase can play a part. For example, increases in CBF causes increases in intracranial blood volume and a quickly progressing hematoma may present higher ICP elevations than a slowly progressing hematoma of the same volume.⁹⁶

As such, two individuals can share the same normal ICP value but one can have considerably less brain compliance. In patients with mass lesions, 1 ml of fluid was injected through an intraventricular catheter to determine ICP changes before and after the mass lesion was removed. Changes in ICP were much greater when the mass lesions were present (low compliance) than when the mass lesion was removed (higher compliance). They also found that the larger the brain shift, the higher the pressure changes.¹⁰⁰

1.2.1 Location and Method of Intracranial Pressure Monitoring

Humans

Guidelines for the Management of Spontaneous Intracerebral Hemorrhage by the American Heart Association in 2010 suggest considering ICP monitoring in ICH patients with intraventricular hemorrhage, transtentorial herniation or a GCS $< 8.^{101}$

The American National Standard for Intracranial Pressure Monitoring Devices recommends technical specifications for the ICP monitor to ensure safety and accuracy.¹⁰² The external ventricular drain is considered to be the gold standard in ICP monitoring. The monitor is inserted into the ventricle and can

drain CSF, if required. Advantages also include its simplicity, relative inexpensive cost, accuracy, capability of recalibration *in situ* and the option of inserting a prophylactic catheter (allows antibiotic administration to reduce infection). However, intraventricular monitoring is invasive and has a reported risk of infection of up to $22\%^{103}$ and hemorrhage in 7% of patients in which 0.8% of them were considered clinically significant.¹⁰⁴ In addition, misplacement of the ICP monitor has also been reported. Other methods of ICP monitoring ranked from best to least favourable based on cost, accuracy and reliability are intraparenchymal (accurate but cannot recalibrate), subarachnoid (not very accurate, recalibration possible), subdural (not very accurate, recalibration sometimes possible) and epidural monitoring (not very accurate, recalibration possible).¹⁰⁵ Several studies comparing ICP readings from the subarachnoid, subdural and epidural space to either intraparenchymal or ventricular readings showed a lack in agreement. The discrepancies are unclear as to whether they are real or to the monitor itself. Monitoring in the epidural space however, can be deemed inaccurate due to the possibility of the dura dampening pressure from being transmitted or by blocking the sensor tip from detecting accurate pressure readings.¹⁰⁵

Non-invasive methods of ICP monitoring are also available and are inexpensive with very low risk. Ocular sonography can be used to measure optic nerve sheath diameter to estimate severity of elevated ICP but these kinds of methods are not well refined and often considered to be inaccurate.¹⁰⁶ Currently though, telemetry is being investigated as a useful tool to monitor ICP in the

hospital and home in patients with hydrocephalus.¹⁰⁷ Nevertheless, ICP monitoring methods vary across hospitals and populations. Guidelines are not universally applicable and even with the aforementioned pressure gradients discussed in patients, whether monitoring near the site of contusion is best or not is currently unknown.¹⁰⁸

Animals

Like patients, intraventricular,^{109, 110} intraparenchymal,¹¹¹ subarachnoid,¹¹² subdural¹¹³ and epidural¹¹⁴ ICP monitoring have been developed for experimental use in animals. Monitoring further away from the site of injury is considered to produce lesser quality data but this has not been confirmed as quality of data depends on the type of monitor used.

Zwienenberg *et al.* (1999) compared intraventricular, cisterna magnal and intraparenchymal ICP measurements in a subdural hematomal rat model. Measurements in the cisterna magna were lower than the other two and considered less accurate. No difference was found between measurements in the ventricle or parenchyma. However, cortical damage was associated with these invasive methods of monitoring which can interfere with histological and behavioral endpoints.¹¹¹ This is especially important when evaluating injury in animal models. The unwanted tissue damage due to the insertion of an ICP monitor can overestimate lesion size and injury and thus, non-invasive methods would be best – given they are as accurate.

Some ICP monitoring in ICH models were done in the mid-1980s that showed that larger volumes of fluid infused into the brain were related to ICP increases.^{60, 61} Other than inflatable balloon models, more recent work done by Qureshi *et al.* in mongrel dogs is of interest.^{38, 115} Cisterna magna measurements taken 45 and 90 minutes after ICH revealed elevations in ICP. However, the evolution of ICP is not clear and the course of ICP resolution is not known.¹¹⁵ In another study by Kusaka *et al.* (2004), ICP was measured through the lumbar segment of the spinal cord as well as in the cisterna magna. Both locations of monitoring revealed an increase of ICP to approximately 30 mm Hg during blood infusion into the brain but gradually fell after. Continuous recording was only completed for 1 hour. This may have been due to the drawback of blood observed through the needle track, indicating an incomplete infusion.⁶⁶

Most ICP monitoring methods require the animal to be anesthetized, limiting the time ICP is to be monitored and introduces a potential confounding variable.¹¹⁶ There may be intrinsic neuroprotective properties of anesthetics.¹¹⁷ For example, anesthesia has been shown to lower ICP and BP in both animals and humans.^{118, 119} In contrast, volatile anesthetics such as halothane increased ICP instead in patients with space-occupying lesions.¹²⁰ Additionally, an intentional 1 hour treatment of isoflurane after ICH was sufficient to reduce cell death, improve behavioural deficits and cerebral swelling at 24 hours.¹²¹ It is unfortunate then, that animals are usually continuously monitored under anesthetic for minutes to hours¹²² or monitored intermittently (animals undergo anesthesia each time or at the very least have to be immobile or restrained)¹⁰⁹ for longer periods of time.

A few studies, however, examined ICP in unanesthetized horses,^{123, 124} nonhuman primates,¹²⁵ dogs,¹²⁶ rabbits¹⁰⁹ and goats.¹²⁷ These also included rodent models but as mentioned, require the animal to be relatively restrained^{118, 128-130} and monitoring is only done for hours.¹³¹ However, a number of tethered systems have been developed. Verlooy *et al.* described a tethered system using a fiberoptic device to measure ICP. They measured within the parenchyma and epidural space and compared them to recordings from the cisterna magna. As intraparenchymal readings correlated well with the cisterna magna, epidural readings did not and showed persistent rises of 10 mm Hg and falls to baseline. They attributed this to a possible mechanical tugging of the dura since the observed artefacts disappeared when the subarachnoid membrane and dura were perforated.¹³²

Rooker *et al.* (2003) also used a tethered system to measure ICP. A swivel head was attached atop of the cranium in which sensors turned the animal cage according to rat movement. This allowed the animals to move freely. Measurements were reliably taken in the right parietal cortex for 3 hours in a weight-drop TBI model. The sham group experienced an unexplained progressive increase in ICP from 4-10 hours post-ictus. Whether this was a real ICP rise or an artefact is unclear.¹²²

More successful accounts include Sanchez-Valverde *et al.* whom measured ICP in the cisterna magna, lateral ventricle and in the lumbar subarachnoid space of Wistar rats for 3 days in a tethered system. This tethered system had a flexible catheter that allowed animals to move freely.¹³³ Lastly, Mandell & Zimmerman also used a tethered system to measure in the intraventricular space of Sprague

Dawley rats. It was not clear the period of time the system was capable of monitoring ICP for but it was briefly mentioned that the cannulas used were not compromised until 2 weeks after surgery.¹³⁴

The most recent method was developed by Silasi *et al.* (2009) but in this case, did not involve a tether. Using blood pressure telemetry probes, ICP was successfully recorded for 5 days in freely moving awake rats after ischemic stroke. This method is particularly attractive as it was able to measure continuously in the epidural space without causing any cortical damage.¹³⁵ Telemetry was also similarly used by another research group.¹³⁶ However, this method is very expensive and like all ICP monitoring systems, can yield pressure drift and artefacts in the data. Also, sudden increases in ICP can be introduced during physical activity or a false reading by the monitor itself.¹³⁵ However, it is possible that the monitor is reading the pressure correctly but the tip of the sensor may artificially be reading higher or lower pressures.

1.3 Cerebral Perfusion Pressure

Cerebral perfusion pressure (CPP) is the adequacy in which the brain is perfused with blood. It is defined by mean arterial pressure (MAP) minus ICP. Thus, patients must be simultaneously monitored for MAP and ICP in the intensive care unit in order for CPP to be calculated. ICP opposes CPP so pathological increases in ICP can effectively reduce CPP, possibly to ischemic levels (average threshold 50-60 mm Hg), provided MAP stays the same.¹⁰⁵ CPP drives CBF, which is normally constant at 50 ml per 100 g/min, which is

approximately the same in rats too.³¹ This occurs over a MAP range of 60-150 mm Hg in normotensive individuals and 120 to approximately 160 mm Hg in hypertensive individuals.¹³⁷⁻¹³⁹ This is because of cerebral autoregulation that ensures constant CBF despite changes in BP. The autoregulation curve for hypertensive individuals has higher absolute limits most probably due to the associated thickened arterial wall and narrowed arterial lumen, which in turn, increases cerebrovascular resistance to compensate the increased perfusion. Thus, hypertensive individuals are susceptible to cerebral ischemia since their absolute threshold for ischemia is higher than that of normotensive individuals.¹⁴⁰

How exactly cerebral autoregulation works is unknown, but it is well accepted that changes in arterial diameter compensate for changes in MAP. For example, increases in MAP are offset by vasoconstriction and decreases in MAP by vasodilation. This is proposed to be done by either a direct response by smooth muscle or triggered by vasoactive factors released from the brain in response to CBF changes.¹⁴¹ However vasodilation and vasoconstriction can only occur to a certain extent. When the limits of cerebral autoregulation are exceeded, CBF becomes passive to CPP in which CPP determines CBF. This is also the case if cerebral autoregulation becomes impaired after brain injury (Figure 2).

1.4 Therapeutic Management of Elevated ICP

Currently, there is limited data on ICP management in ICH patients and most of what is known is adopted from TBI research. Generally the underlying cause of elevated ICP is treated but when this is not possible, CSF drainage is usually employed. The next line of defense would be to use osmotic therapies such as mannitol or hypertonic saline solution. Mannitol is an osmotic agent administered as bolus injections and acts by drawing water from tissue into the circulatory system. It acts quickly but can be associated with complications like kidney problems if not used cautiously.¹⁴² In those without an intact BBB, mannitol can theoretically worsen edema via a reversal of the osmotic gradient.¹⁴³ Hypertonic saline therapy also acts by drawing water from cells but can be varied on tonicity and volume. A meta-analysis of clinical trials comparing the two therapies revealed that hypertonic saline had a slight advantage in reducing elevated ICP but functional outcome has not been a chief endpoint in most of these studies.⁸⁶ Additionally, the tonicity and volume of hypertonic saline therapies are extremely diverse across studies and depend on hospital protocol.

If elevated ICP persists, sedation and hyperventilation can be considered. The safety and efficacy of sedative use in ICP treatment have not been well explored but sedative use is believed to reduce ICP by reducing metabolic demand. A systematic review in 2011 examining the use of sedatives such as ketamine, propofol and benzodiazapene in randomized controlled trials of TBI patients revealed that all sedatives were similar in treating ICP and CPP and improving outcome. However, high doses of these sedatives can be harmful to ICP and CPP.¹⁴⁴ Additionally, hyperventilation has been shown to work extremely well in reducing ICP acutely by inducing vasoconstriction.¹⁴⁵ However, it can lead to respiratory alkalosis (increased blood pH) and possibly secondary ischemia.¹⁴⁶

Thus, the use of hyperventilation in brain injury is minimal and must be used cautiously.

Barbiturates, neuromuscular blockades, hypothermia or decompressive craniectomy can be chosen to treat refractory ICP (unresponsive to aforementioned treatments). Barbiturate therapy can be complicated with hypotension and an inaccessible neurologic exam. When compared with conventional ICP treatment, pentobarbital was shown to control ICP better by 50% but 30-day mortality did not differ between the two groups.¹⁴⁷ Neuromuscular blockades have similar complications as barbiturates. They are considered to decrease physical movement, resulting in reduced intrathoracic pressure that may have impeded venous outflow, thus decreasing ICP.¹⁴⁸ On the other hand, mild therapeutic hypothermia $(35^{\circ}C)$ for 10 days after a large ICH successfully prevented perihematomal edema progression with no reported ICP crises (ICP > 20 mm Hg > 15 minutes) versus the 44% ICP crises reported in the historical control group. Additionally, a 72% mortality rate was found in the control group whereas no deaths were reported in the hypothermia group. However, patients treated with mild hypothermia all had pneumonia and 76% cases were found in the control.¹⁴⁹ A follow-up at 12 months demonstrated only 2 of the 12 treated patients died and 50% of them were able to walk unassisted.¹⁵⁰ Of course, this was a small sample size and was compared to a historical control. A review demonstrated that therapeutic hypothermia has great potential to treat ICP but can be complicated during the rewarming phase, where ICP rebound or exacerbation can occur. Slower rewarming can possibly be more beneficial.¹⁵¹

Currently the Eurotherm3235Trial is assessing mild hypothermia $(32-35^{\circ}C)$ initiated by infusing refrigerated saline) in TBI patients with ICP as its main endpoint.¹⁵²

Another treatment for refractory ICP is decompressive hemicraniectomy, which involves removing a part of the skull to alleviate pressure. Decompressive hemicraniectomy has been shown to improve brain tissue oxygenation¹⁵³ and outcome^{154, 155} but this treatment remains to be controversial due to an unclear effect on clinical outcome in both ICH and ischemic strokes. A randomized, prospective trial called RESCUEicp in TBI patients is underway.¹⁵⁶ Hematoma evacuation is an option too but this is done in patients with cerebellar hemorrhages, hydrocephalus from ventricular obstruction or brain stem compression. Superficial supratentorial hemorrhages > 30 ml can be considered for evacuation but the benefits of such surgeries is unclear.¹⁰¹

Other general and simple approaches to ICP control include fluid management and a 30° head elevation to encourage venous blood outflow. Caution should be taken to avoid reductions in CPP. In a group of patients with elevated ICP, it was found that for every 10° of head elevation, ICP decreased on average, by 1 mm Hg but CPP was also decreased by 2-3 mm Hg.¹⁵⁷ Although CPP changes were not found in another group of head-injured patients,¹⁵⁸ higher head elevations (60°) was not any better than 30° in reducing ICP.¹⁵⁹

1.5 ICP vs. CPP

There is debate whether ICP- or CPP-oriented therapies are superior to the other. ICP- and CPP- oriented protocols focus on maintaining ICP and CPP respectively within predetermined ranges. These predetermined ranges however, are not concrete. Whether elevated ICP is really important becomes questionable when mortality is only correlated with ICP at extremely high levels.¹⁶⁰ This is further complicated by the fact that the aging population may be more susceptible to increases in ICP due to their reduced CSF outflow.¹⁶¹ It is possible that raised ICP is most important when brain stem compression is involved¹⁶² but brain shift and edema can be found without a significant increase in ICP.^{162, 163} Though initial ICP was correlated with neurological status, two thirds of those that died had normal ICP.¹⁶⁴ The deepest levels of coma were associated with raised ICP but the time course of ICP did not relate to changing neurological status.¹⁶⁵ Average ICP > 20 mm Hg was significantly correlated with mortality in TBI patients and with 6 month functional outcome. Interestingly, ICP did not correlate with 6 month outcome among survivors.¹⁶⁶ The exact role ICP plays in ICH is not entirely clear.

There is an argument for large, randomized trials to show ICP monitoring is truly beneficial before it is taken into routine practice. Despite ICP monitoring guidelines by the Brain Trauma Foundation, a mere 43% compliance rate was found.¹⁶⁷ Surprisingly, there was no difference when comparing scores on the Glasgow Outcome Scale assessed \geq 12 months after brain injury and in mortality between a centre that practices ICP monitoring and ICP/CPP oriented therapy and another that did not. In addition, the duration of stay in the intensive care unit was reported to be longer in the ICP-monitoring centre. However, this study excluded mortality in the first 24 hours (25% in the non-ICP monitoring centre and 15% in the ICP monitoring centre).¹⁶⁸

Though the clinical importance of ICP can be a debateable issue, whether CPP-focused therapy is a better approach is another. Low CPP was a better predictor than ICP for death and poor outcome in TBI patients¹⁶⁹ and 100% mortality rate was reported in patients who's CPP fell < 40 mm Hg on the first day and < 60 mm Hg on the second day post-ictus.¹⁷⁰ A retrospective study also found CPP < 60 mm Hg was related to poor outcome but this did not improve when CPP was kept > 70 mm Hg.¹⁷¹ Additionally, CPP > 60 mm Hg had no impact on 6 month outcome and instead, ICP \ge 20 mm Hg was a robust predictor for neurological deterioration.¹⁷² Despite these discrepancies, the recommended target CPP range is 50-70 mm Hg according to the 2007 Guidelines for the Management of Severe Traumatic Brain Injury. These guidelines however, are mainly based on class II (good quality case control studies to moderate quality randomized controlled studies) and III (poor quality randomized controlled trials) data.¹⁰⁵

However optimal CPP thresholds may not be as important, as patients with intact autoregulation respond better to CPP-oriented protocols (\geq 70 mm Hg and ICP secondarily < 25 mm Hg) and those with impaired autoregulation respond better to ICP-directed therapies (< 20 mm Hg and CPP secondarily > 60 mm Hg).¹⁷³ In contrast to a previous study, there was no correlation between defective
or intact autoregulation with survival. This may be due to the heterogeneous population and small sample size.¹⁶⁰

A retrospective study calculated optimal CPP based on vascular reactivity for each patient. Patients below their optimal CPP had a higher mortality rate but those above it had a higher disability rate. Good outcome was thus reported when patients were closest to their optimal CPP.¹⁷⁴ Individualized treatment may be best but further research is warranted.

1.6 Rationale

The importance of ICP as an endpoint in ICH is not entirely clear as most of what is known about ICP and ICH is adopted from TBI research. The first step to help elucidate this is to explore ICP in animal models. However as discussed, current rodent models can simulate certain features of ICH pathophysiology but do not in others. Importantly, ICP in the collagenase and whole blood model have not been well explored and methods that currently exist to measure ICP in rodents involve anesthesia, restraint or a tethered system. This can confound accuracy and further the gap between bench and bedside research. Nevertheless in current animal models, reductions in edema are seen as beneficial because they are associated with reductions in ICP despite the fact that ICP was not measured. This is especially important to note as edema is a heavily relied upon endpoint in ICH research.⁵³

In the following experiments, telemetry will be used to measure ICP in freely moving, untethered and unanesthetized animals for several days as previously

performed by Silasi *et al.* in ischemic stroke rats.¹³⁵ This is the first time telemetry is used to measure ICP in ICH models. ICP will then be correlated with edema to gauge whether ICH animal models mimic human ICH profiles. The collagenase model was primarily used because of its distinct advantage of modifying ICH severity. A severe ICH was initially induced to observe severe ICP and cerebral swelling. We hypothesized that ICP will rise after severe ICH and higher pressures would be detected nearer the site of injury than further away. We also hypothesized lower ICP would be observed in moderate to severe ICH and these ICP rises would be correlated with edema. This work is crucial in establishing the face validity of ICH models.

CHAPTER 2

2. Methods

2.1 Animals

Fifty-four male Sprague Dawley rats (Biosciences breeding colony, University of Alberta; 4-6 months; 350-500 g) were kept on a standard 12 hour light-dark cycle with free access to food and water. All animals were closely monitored and singly housed in $16" \times 10" \times 8"$ (L \times H \times W) polycarbonate cages post-operation. Subjects were given soft mash (Purina rat chow dissolved in distilled water and mixed with Kraft smooth peanut butter and sunflower seeds) until recovered from ICH surgery. After, rats were fed Purina rat chow only. Animals were randomized within each experiment but due to the obvious neurological impairments, the investigator (C.H.) was not blinded to group assignment. However, data collection was automated via a nearby computer. All procedures were performed according to the Biosciences Animal Care and Use Committee at the University of Alberta and the Canadian Council on Animal Care guidelines.

2.2 *Experiments*

2.2.1 Part 1: Location of ICP monitoring

Part 1 consisted of 2 experiments. In the first experiment, 8 animals were randomly assigned to a severe ICH or sham surgery. Using radiotelemetry, ICP was recorded in the epidural space (EPI-ICH or EPI-SHAM) for 72 hours at which point brain water content was determined. This experiment was repeated but instead, ICP was recorded in the intraparenchymal space (INTRA-ICH or INTRA-SHAM) at the center of the hematoma.

2.2.2 Part 2: Stroke-induced CPP changes

Baseline readings of heat rate (HR, measured as beats per minute - BPM), activity, MAP, systolic and diastolic pressure were recorded in animals for 1 week using telemetry before the rats were subjected to a severe ICH (collagenase model) or sham surgery. Immediately following surgery, the aforementioned parameters were measured and alternated with ICP recordings every 6 hours for 3 days and every 12 hours for 4 more days. Exactly 7 days after ICH or sham surgery, subjects were euthanized via transcardial perfusion and lesion size was quantified. Owing to signal interference, it was not possible to record with both telemetry probes simultaneously. Thus, they were intermittently turned on and off in an alternating fashion (via magnetic switch).

2.2.3 Part 3: Comparing ICP in different ICH Models

Rats were subjected to a moderate to severe stroke via the collagenase model (COLLAG), the whole blood (WB) model or sham (SHAM) surgery. Surgical procedures were mirrored according to the whole blood model to ensure consistency between all experimental groups. This included taking 100 μ l of blood from the tail vein. ICP was recorded until euthanasia at 72 hours when cerebral water content was assessed.

2.3 Telemetry Probes and System

PA-C10 (Data Sciences Int., St. Paul, MN, USA) probes recorded BPM, MAP, systolic and diastolic pressure when the probe's catheter was secured in the femoral artery. The PA-C10 probes were also used in a modified way to measure ICP according to Silasi *et al.*¹³⁵ The probes emitted AM radio waves to platform receivers (Model RPC-1, Data Sciences Int.) placed beneath the animal cages. Waveform data was averaged over 5 seconds every minute. This data was then stored using ART software (v. 2.3, Data Sciences Int.).

2.3.1 Pressure Drift

Offset values were calculated to correctly adjust for potential pressure drift during experiments. Telemetry probes were turned on and placed on their respective platform receivers. Special care was taken to allow the catheter head to lie flat on its side. At least 12 hours of data was collected before and after implantation for each animal. The average of both the pre-implant (\bar{X}_{pre}) and postexplant (\bar{X}_{post}) pressure readings were calculated and subtracted from each other:

$$\bar{X}_{post} - \bar{X}_{pre}$$

This was subsequently divided by the number of data points collected during the experiment. Since the telemetry system collected data every minute, this new value equated to the average pressure increase per minute (x_{min}) :

$$[(X_{post} - X_{pre}) \div number of data points] = x_{min}$$

A number sequence was then generated:

 $\bar{X}_{pre}, \bar{X}_{pre} + x_{min}, \bar{X}_{pre} + 2x_{min}, \bar{X}_{pre} + 3x_{min} \dots \bar{X}_{post}$

Values in this sequence were subtracted from the corresponding data points collected during the experiment. The resultant values were considered to be unbiased values from pressure drift.

2.4 Valsalva Manoeuvre

The Valsalva manoeuvre was used to ensure the closed fluid-filled system to measure ICP was not compromised. It involved gently but firmly squeezing the rat's abdomen. This impeded venous blood flow by briefly increasing thoracic cavity pressure which in turn, caused a transient increase in ICP. The Valsalva manoeuvre was performed immediately after ICP implant and before euthanasia.

2.5 ICP Assembly

2.5.1 Cranial ICP Apparatus

Cranial ICP apparatuses were made out of ordinary lab materials and served to keep the ICP telemetry probes secure atop of the rat head and to protect the probe from damage during the experiment. Cranial apparatuses assembled in this study were slightly modified from Silasi et al.¹³⁵ A 5 cc syringe barrel was cut to a ~2.5 cm length with one end flat and the other slightly curved to fit the top of the skull. Near the edge of the curve, tiny holes were drilled along the perimeter of the barrel. Metal screws (MX-080-02, Small Parts Inc., Miami Lakes, FL, USA) were to be inserted in the holes during surgery, to help anchor the cranial apparatus in place (see Figure 3A for full assembly).

2.5.2 Cannulas

Nylon screws (C212SGN, PlasticsOne, Roanoke, VA, USA) with a hole diameter suitable for a 26 G needle were filed such that they will sit flush with the bottom of the skull (i.e., to sense pressure in the epidural space). These modified screws were used to act as cannula guides. Cannulas were constructed according to Silasi et al.¹³⁵ Briefly, the needle shaft of a 23 G needle was removed from the hub and filed so that it would either fit tightly inside the screw (to measure ICP in the epidural space) or 6.5 mm deep into the brain (to measure ICP in the centre of the hematoma). A larger needle shaft was chosen to ensure an airtight seal. An approximate 2 cm long PE20 tube (Smiths Medical International Ltd., Kent, UK) was attached to the other end of the cannula. Cannulas were cleaned, soaked in 95% ethanol overnight and filled with sterile saline prior to surgery (see Figure 3B for full assembly).

2.6 Surgery

All rats were anesthetized (4% isoflurane induction, 2% maintenance in in 60% N₂O and balance O₂) for aseptic surgery. During surgery, rectal temperature was maintained at $37^{\circ}C \pm 0.5$. All telemetry probes were sterilized in 2% glutaraldehyde overnight and then repeatedly rinsed in sterile saline prior to surgery.

2.6.1 Intracerebral Hemorrhage

In the collagenase and whole blood model, the dorsal region of the head was shaved and the incision site was injected subcutaneously with Marcaine (0.1 ml; Sanofi Canada, Markham, OT, Canada), treated with 70% alcohol and twice with betadine. With a scalpel blade, a 2-3 cm cut was made in the centre of the head. A hole was drilled 3.5 mm to the right and 0.07 mm posterior of Bregma, to avoid interference with the coronal suture that may potentially affect ICP. A Hamilton syringe (Hamilton, Reno, NV, USA) was lowered 6.5 mm into the brain through the hole and 1 μ l of 0.3 U (severe ICH), 0.15 U (moderate to severe ICH) of collagenase (Type IV-S; Sigma, Oakville, OT, Canada), saline or 100 μ l of whole blood was injected. Injections in Part 1 and 2 were done over 5 minutes while injections in Part 3 were allowed before the syringe was slowly withdrawn to avoid the drawback of liquid up the needle tract. In Part 2, immediately before injection, 100 μ l of whole blood was obtained from the tail vein.

2.6.2 ICP implant

After the ICH surgery, the burr hole was plugged with the modified nylon screw described in section 2.5.2 and sealed with cyanoacrylate (Vetbond, 3M Animal Care, St. Paul, MN, USA). Implantation of the ICP assembly was performed in a similar fashion from a previous procedure done by Silasi *et al.*¹³⁵ Two additional holes were drilled into the skull, fastened with metal screws and cyanoacrylate. The holes were positioned in such a way that they would border the inner lining of the cranial ICP apparatus. This was so that the screws can further anchor the entire cranial apparatus in place. At this point, a saline-filled cannula was carefully inserted into the modified nylon screw and again, fixed with cyanoacrylate. The catheter of the PA-C10 probe was inserted into the PE20 tube attached to the cannula until secure. The PA-C10 probe body was threaded through the cranial apparatus and metal screws were inserted into the pre-drilled holes of the barrel. The cranial ICP apparatus was carefully placed on the clean, dry skull surface. Finally, dental cement was dripped into the cylinder, just enough to seal the whole assembly. Dental cement was allowed to dry over ten minutes. A few drops of Marcaine were applied along the cylinder onto the scalp before it was sutured shut. A rubber plunger was used as a lid for the cranial ICP apparatus and the perimeter was secured with dental cement (see Figure 3 for full assembly). Animals were hydrated with 5 cc of sterile saline post-surgery.

2.6.3 MAP surgery

The inner right thigh of the rat was shaved and treated once with 70% alcohol and twice with betadine. Scissors was used to make a ~1.5 cm incision along the femoral artery. By blunt dissection, the femoral artery was isolated. Three silk sutures (Deknatel, 8-S, 136075-0208, Research Triangle Park, NC, USA) were threaded beneath the artery using vessel cannulation forceps so that they lied adjacent to each other. A few drops of lidocaine (00712884, Wyeth Animal Health, Guelph, ON, Canada) were used to dilate the artery. The most distal suture was tied in a knot to block blood flow and gently pulled and held in place. The most proximal suture was also gently pulled in the opposite direction until

visible blanching occurred and held in place. With the bevel bent at a right angle, a 25 G needle was pushed into and along the arterial lumen. This was to help guide the PA-C10 catheter into the femoral artery. The PA-C10 probe was adequately soaked in sterile saline before the catheter was gently pushed into the artery until ~1.5 cm of the catheter remained visible. All three sutures were tied and knotted around the artery to keep the catheter secure. Excess sutures were clipped. The probe body was placed subcutaneously and secured in place with sutures. The surgical site was treated with a few drops of Marcaine immediately before and after the skin was sutured shut.

2.7 Water Content Assessment

Animals were anesthetized with isoflurane (4% isoflurane in 60% N₂O and balance O_2) and decapitated. Brains were extracted and blocked from 4 mm posterior to 2 mm anterior of the injection site. The block was further divided into ipsilateral and contralateral cortical and striatal sections. The cerebellum was also extracted for control. The brain sections were weighed before (wet weight) and after (dry weight) being baked for 24 hours at 100° C. The water content of each sample was calculated by the following formula:

[(wet weight – dry weight) \div wet weight] \times 100 = water content (%)

Brain tissue samples normally contain ~78% water content and higher percentages than this shows the presence of cerebral edema.¹⁷⁵

2.8 Histological Preparation and Quantification

Animals were overdosed with sodium pentobarbital (DIN 00141704, Bimeda-MTC, Cambridge, ON, Canada, 100mg/kg, i.p) and transcardially perfused through the left ventricle with approximately 100 ml of 0.9% saline and subsequently, 200 ml of formalin. Brains were extracted and allowed to sit in formalin for 1 week and in 10% sucrose in formalin for 2 days before coronally sectioned into 40 µm slices. Sections were mounted on glass slides and stained with cresyl violet.

Lesion size was quantified using ImageJ (v. 1.46, National Institutes of Health) on every tenth section per animal. The lesion size was summed and expressed as mm³.

2.9 Statistics

All ICP, CPP, BP and HR values were averaged by day and were analyzed using repeated measures ANOVA with simple contrasts comparing each day to baseline (BL) data, when applicable. The last 3 days before ICH manipulation were averaged for BL values. When applicable, post-hoc Tukey tests and simple comparisons were used. Independent samples t-tests were performed to compare water content of appropriate brain regions. Hours spent above an ICP threshold was counted for each animal and regressed with water content. All regression analyses were run using linear regression. Lastly, mortality was analyzed using a Fischer exact test. All statistical analyses were run by SPSS v. 17.0 (Chicago, IL) and were considered significant when $p \le 0.05$.

CHAPTER 3

3. Results

There were no noticeable changes in ICP between the animals' dark and light cycle and thus, circadian rhythm changes were not expected to confound results. This has also been found by another research group.¹³⁶

3.1 Exclusions

In Part 1, 1 animal from each ICH group were excluded. One animal died prematurely in the ICH-EPI group presumably from a large hematoma (Figure 4) and another had a notably small hematoma despite receiving the same dose of collagenase in the ICH-INTRA group (Figure 5). Six additional animals in Part 2 and another 2 animals in Part 3 were excluded due to technical difficulties, experimenter error and ICH-induced mortality. After exclusions, Part 1 had a total N = 14 (EPI-ICH: n = 3, EPI-SHAM: n = 4; INTRA-ICH: n = 3, INTRA-SHAM: n = 4), Part 2 had a total N = 8 (ICH: n = 5, SHAM: n = 3), and Part 3 had a total N = 22 (COLLAG: n = 8, WB: n = 8, SHAM: n = 6).

3.2 Mortality

Mortality was only observed in severe collagenase-induced ICH (0.3 U) animals. In all of the experiments, a total of 15 animals had a severe ICH, 3 of which died within 24 hours, resulting in a 20% mortality rate. There was no difference in mortality between the two groups, however (p = 0.224).

3.3 Part 1: No difference between location of ICP monitoring

Elevated ICP was observed in the EPI-ICH group when compared to EPI-SHAM ($F_{(1,5)} = 18.15$, p = 0.008) and in the INTRA-ICH group compared to INTRA-SHAM ($F_{(1,5)} = 70.05$, p ≤ 0.001). There was no effect of Day during intraparenchymal monitoring ($F_{(2,10)} = 0.77$, p = 0.489), but an effect was found in the EPI-ICH group ($F_{(2,10)} = 4.11$, p = 0.05). Also, no interaction between Day × Surgery ($F_{(2,10)} = 3.42$, p = 0.074; $F_{(2,10)} = 2.85$, p = 0.105, respectively) was found (Figure 6). Combined data suggests no difference between the two locations of monitoring ($F_{(1,12)} = 0.02$, p = 0.902), and on average severe ICH increased ICP by 6.59 mm Hg. Thus, data was pooled for water content assessment. Additionally, epidural monitoring was the location of choice for Part 2 and Part 3 to avoid cortical and striatal damage associated with intraparenchymal measurements.

3.3.1 Brain Edema

Water content in the severe ICH group was an additional 8.21% greater in the ipsilateral striatum ($t_{(12)} = 16.60$, p ≤ 0.001), 2.71% in the ipsilateral cortex ($t_{(12)} = 15.57$, p ≤ 0.001), 1.4% in the contralateral striatum ($t_{(12)} = 3.35$, p = 0.006) and 0.7% in the contralateral cortex ($t_{(12)} = 2.89$, p = 0.014) when compared to SHAM. The cerebellum, used as a control, was not different between ICH and sham groups ($t_{(12)} = -0.13$, p = 0.899, Figure 7).

3.4 Part 2: Modest reductions in CPP after severe ICH

3.4.1 Heart Rate

HR was not significantly different at baseline ($t_{(6)} = -1.11$, p = 0.312) between the sham and ICH group. HR was not affected by severe ICH ($F_{(1,6)} = 0.76$, p = 0.42) over the 1 week period ($F_{(6,36)} = 2.35$, p = 0.051). Although, there was a trend towards decreasing HR. This can possibly be explained by the different sampling interval between the first 3 days and the last 4 days. There was also no Surgery × Day interaction ($F_{(6,36)} = 0.76$, p = 0.608, Figure 8).

<u>3.4.2</u> <u>ICP</u>

An unexplained increase in ICP on days 6 and 7 in the sham group was observed (data not shown). This presumed error resulted in a conservative omission of ICP and BP data recorded from days 5 to 7. Severe ICH increased ICP on average by 7.21 mm Hg ($F_{(1,6)} = 9.7$, p = 0.021) with no effect of Day ($F_{(3,18)} = 2$, p = 0.150) or Day × Surgery ($F_{(3,18)} = 2.5$, p = 0.092, Figure 9).

<u>3.4.3</u> <u>Blood Pressure</u>

Severe ICH did not significantly change diastolic ($F_{(1,6)} = 0.05$, p = 0.823), systolic ($F_{(1,6)} = 0.07$, p = 0.795) or MAP ($F_{(1,6)} = 0.00$, p= 0.957). However, there was an effect of day ($F_{(4,24)} = 7.42$, p ≤ 0.001 , $F_{(4,24)} = 6.51$, p= 0.001, $F_{(4,24)} =$ 8.42, p ≤ 0.001 , respectively). There was also no significant Day × Surgery effect for all 3 parameters ($F_{(4,24)} = 1.07$, p = 0.395; $F_{(4,24)} = 0.78$, p = 0.547; $F_{(4,24)} =$ 1.23, p = 0.325, respectively, Figure 10).

<u>3.4.4</u> <u>CPP</u>

CPP was modestly reduced by severe ICH ($F_{(1,6)} = 11.64$, p = 0.014), on average by 7.5 mm Hg with no significant interaction between Day × Surgery ($F_{(3,18)} = 0.52$, p = 0.674, Figure 11).

<u>3.4.5</u> <u>Lesion Volume</u>

No linear relationship was found between lesion volume (*M*: 64.55 mm³ ± *SD*: 21.47) and peak ICP ($F_{(1,4)} = 5.51$, R² = 0.647, p = 0.101, Figure 12). However, this finding is limited by the small sample size.

3.5 Part 3: ICP rises only found in the collagenase model

3.5.1 Brain Edema

When compared to SHAM, the water content of the ipsilateral striatum of COLLAG was an additional 8.06% and 4.44% additional in the WB ($p \le 0.001$; p = 0.001, respectively). In the ipsilateral cortex, an additional 2% and 0.88% was found respectively ($p \le 0.001$; p = 0.010, respectively) when compared to SHAM. However, COLLAG also had higher water content than WB in these regions (3.62% increase, p = 0.003 and 1.12% increase, p = 0.001, respectively). In the contralateral hemisphere, the striatum had increased water content in the COLLAG (1.34% increase, p = 0.001) and WB models (1.23% increase, p = 0.003) but there was no significant difference between ICH models (p = 0.931). There was also no difference between all groups in the contralateral cortex ($F_{(2,19)} = 1.3$, p = 0.296) and in the cerebellum ($F_{(2,19)} = 1.03$, p = 0.375, Figure 13).

<u>3.5.2</u> ICP

There was an effect of ICH ($F_{(2,19)} = 5.38$, p = 0.014), Day ($F_{(2,38)} = 4.19$, p = 0.023) and Surgery × Day ($F_{(4,38)} = 3.61$, p = 0.014). By simple contrasts, COLLAG increased ICP by 6.01 mm Hg on Day 1 (p = 0.005) and 5.16 mm Hg on Day 2 (p = 0.009) and a trend on Day 3 (p = 0.068). However, WB did not significantly increase ICP when compared to sham (p = 0.848). In addition, COLLAG increased ICP by 4.51 mm Hg when compared to WB on Day 2 (p = 0.012) and by 5.53 mm Hg on Day 3(p = 0.008) but not on Day 1 (p = 0.215, Figure 14).

3.5.3 Water Content Vs. ICP

Data from Part 1 were combined with Part 3 to examine the relationship between water content and ICP. A significant linear relationship was found between Day 3 ICP and Day 3 water content in ICH animals ($F_{(1,21)} = 12.87$, R²= 0.391, p = 0.002, Figure 15).

After data was collected, categorical classes of ICP were developed to correlate with water content. The number of hours each animal spent 1 SD or 2 SD above sham animals were counted. The peak ICP each animal experienced was also noted. All categories were linearly correlated with Day 3 water content (Table 1). An example of one of these categories is demonstrated in Figure 16.

4. Discussion

4.1 Primary Findings

The purpose of our experiments was to first establish the best location of ICP in ICH models of freely moving, unanesthetized animals. Our next goal was to determine the face validity of currently used rodent ICH models in increasing ICP. We found that telemetry was capable of measuring ICP in these rodent models for 3 days with no detectable pressure gradients. Thus, measuring in the epidural space was determined to be the "superior" location of monitoring as it is less invasive. We also found that the collagenase model successfully increased ICP for at least 4 days after a severe ICH and for 2 days after a moderate to severe ICH. ICP did not rise after a moderate to severe ICH induced by whole blood. Lastly, increases in edema correlated with increases in ICP. These findings demonstrate, within the context of our study, that the collagenase model may be a suitable model to evaluate ICP therapies.

4.2 Animal models and ICP

Within our experiments, the whole blood and collagenase ICH model both demonstrated increased water content but the collagenase was the only model that was successful in increasing ICP. It is possible the water content found in the whole blood model in our study was lower than what was found by others. However, it is difficult to compare edema values due to differences in methodology (eg. larger tissue samples may yield lower edema values as edema is expected to lessen further away from the site of injury). Additionally, we injected 100 μ l of blood into the brain – twice the volume of what would equate to an average ICH (53.8 ml) in patients.^{62, 176} Furthermore, a previous study in our lab showed that a 100 μ l blood infusion resulted in a ~85.34 μ l hematoma volume 12 hours later.⁶³

Theoretically, larger volumes of autologous blood could be injected into the brain but this is technically difficult as blood clots easily in the needle and can back up the needle track.⁶⁶ As previously mentioned, 50 µL of blood infusion in rats equates to an average ICH in patients^{62, 176} but a 100 µL blood infusion did not significantly increase ICP in our study. In a study with mongrel dogs, ICP rises were observed in the whole blood model. According to the authors, the blood volumes infused were comparable to 55-75 ml in humans.¹¹⁵ It is possible that rats have a higher brain compliance however in CSF infusion studies, rats had the highest CSF resistance (ie. highest impedance to CSF outflow), followed by dogs and humans¹³¹ which was found to increase with age.¹⁶¹ Further exploration in comparing volumes of the skull, brain tissue, brain CSF and blood within the skull between species and with increasing age is required to elucidate these pressure-volume relationships. Additionally, after a similar impact-acceleration injury, no mortality was reported in Sprague Dawley rats whereas 50% of Wistar rats died suggesting a higher tolerance in the Sprague Dawley strain.¹⁷⁷

Thus at least in the context of our study (4-6 month old Sprague Dawley rats for 3 days after ICH), the whole blood model is not a valid model to evaluate ICP. Edema-reducing therapies evaluated in this model become questionable as many assume reductions in edema can be translated into alleviating pathological ICP

elevations and improving CBF. However, antiedema therapies studied in this model can still treat edema and ICP in clinical settings.^{86, 115} In the collagenase model on the other hand, ICP increases were found after a moderate-severe ICH for at least 2 days and a severe ICH for at least 4 days. These increases may have been found due to the greater secondary injury associated with the collagenase model^{63, 70} and the greater increase in water content found in our study. These ICP increases, however, can possibly serve as a target in evaluating ICP-reducing therapies. Future studies are required to see whether these increases are important in functional outcome.

4.3 The importance of edema

Within the context of our study, the severe increases in water content led to modest increases in ICP. This suggests edema alone is not a valuable endpoint despite the fact that most animal literature uses edema as a sole endpoint.¹⁷⁸⁻¹⁸⁰ Edema in patients has shown to be mainly plasma derived due to the serum proteins extruded from the hematoma³⁴ – though injections of blood components and thrombin in animals can also induce edema.^{24, 78} The space-occupying effects of this edema can cause mechanical damage and increase ICP, but other harmful effects of edema are not clear. Many studies heavily depend on edema to gauge treatment efficacy as it was found to be the second-most common endpoint next to behaviour.⁵³ This is interesting to note as therapies have shown that modestly reducing edema did not provide functional benefit 30 days after ICH¹⁸¹ nor any improvements in long-term behavioural or histological endpoints.⁸¹ In contrast, an

inhibitor of carbonic anhydrase (a compound present in erythrocytes) reduced edema by only ~2% in addition to alleviating neuronal death and behavioural deficits.¹⁸² Furthermore, edema severity was correlated with poor behavioural scores; as edema improved, so did behavioural performance. This correlation was found up to 14 days as edema was resolved by this time.⁸⁰ Also, a number of therapies have demonstrated decreases in edema in addition to improvements in functional and histological outcomes.^{121, 149, 182-185} However, outcome was mostly assessed in the first few days after ICH. Whether improved outcome was a direct result from reductions in edema though, is unclear and warrants further research.

Thus, it is possible long-term endpoints are required to assess the true importance of edema. Only 10% of ICH animal studies looked at chronic functional outcome whereas the remaining studies focused within the first 6 days.⁵³ Clinical studies also do not provide clear results. No correlation existed between edema volume growth and 3 month functional outcome.²⁸ Yet, another clinical study found that relative edema was related with better outcome.¹⁸⁶ Thus, more research on edema and its role in long-term functional outcome is required especially since the natural resolution of edema after ICH may contribute to improvements seen in therapies.⁵³

It is important to acknowledge that though edema may not have a clear correlation with functional outcome, there appears to be a better relationship with hematoma size – the larger the hemorrhage, the larger one can expect edema volume to be.^{187, 188} Larger hematoma evacuations led to greater reductions in edema.¹⁸⁹ In a retrospective study of 404 patients, perihematomal edema volume

growth within the first 72 hours was correlated with death or dependency at 90 days when adjusted for age, gender, and treatment but not when adjusted for initial hematoma volume.¹⁸⁸ It is possible edema can be used as an indicator of ICH severity but whether treatment of cerebral swelling can translate to histological or functional benefits is uncertain.

4.4 Intracranial pressure and edema

Within the context of our experiments, there is no clear threshold in which ICP must exceed to increase edema or vice versa. Our post-hoc exploratory analysis revealed several ICP classifications that may possibly be used for future experiments to predict cerebral swelling. These included Peak ICP and the total number of hours spent 1 or 2 SD above sham animals. From this incipient analysis, it appears that the longer ICP is elevated, the higher one can expect the brain water content to be. However, this was only an exploratory analysis and future experiments are required to appropriately assess these categories with a larger sample size.

However, ICP was increased for 4 days after severe ICH and though not significantly different from each other, ICP was highest in the first 24 hours. As edema peaks on the third day in animal models,⁸⁰ one might expect ICP to be highest on this day too. However, hematoma resolution at this time could have diminished the mass effect from edema. Edema has been shown to be resolved by the fifth day in animals,⁸¹ though other studies have found it to be within 2 weeks instead.⁸⁰ Unfortunately, our ICP monitoring system failed to measure ICP past 4

days to demonstrate ICP resolution. Also, because of the severity of the ICH used, the edema peak may actually be much later than 3 days. Larger hemorrhages resulted in delayed edema peaks despite similar initial growth of edema when compared with smaller hemorrhages.¹⁹⁰ Within the context of our study though, it would be interesting to note the temporal relationship between edema and ICP. However this relationship may be difficult to define as dramatic edema increases do not similarly increase ICP as previously mentioned.

In patients, edema growth is highest in the first 48 hours and edema peaks around the end of the second week.^{26-28, 82} The difference in edema time course between animals and humans is especially important for therapeutic translation as the target critical time window in animals will be different from that of humans. It would thus be important to outline the ICP time course in animal models if ICPreducing therapies are to be studied.

However, conclusive statements cannot be made until the pressure-volume relationship in the rat is outlined. This is important because we failed to demonstrate the theoretical non-linear pressure-volume relationship as described in Figure 1 but instead, found a linear relationship (Figure 15). Of course, this linear relationship was based on changes in water content only and did not include other volume changes such as lesion volume. This information was limited as animals euthanized for water content assessment could not have been used for histological analyses. However, lesion volume was analyzed in a separate experiment and failed to correlate with Peak ICP. This agreed with findings by Bullock *et al.* in which maximum ICP within 2 hours after ICH did not correlate

with hematoma size. However, hematoma size was calculated as the percentage of the hemisphere which could have been confounded by cerebral swelling that can occur several hours after hemorrhage.^{60, 75} Further exploration in determining volumes of rat brain components is required to elucidate these pressure-volume relationships. However, the extent of these ICP rises may depend on lesion location.

In patients with large hematomas, herniation was observed when hematomas were located in the temporal or temporoparietal regions but not when in the frontal lobar or parieto-occipital regions. Patients with the former were at greater risk for brain-stem compression and hematoma volume was correlated with the degree of herniation.¹⁰ In an inflatable balloon study with baboons, ICP responses were observed when balloons were implanted in the supratentorial or in the infratentorial region. Those implanted with the latter experienced a faster reduction in blood flow and larger rise in ICP. Baboons also experienced both high and low levels of CBF at low levels of ICP whereas those with supratentorial balloons experienced low CBF at higher ICP levels. This suggested cerebral autoregulation was impaired much faster in baboons with infratentorial masses.¹⁹¹ The hemorrhage location in our experiments was not in the infratentorial region and thus, could explain the limited rises in ICP observed. Lesions closer to the brainstem not only suppress vital functioning but also impede blood flow of the major vessels. Brainstem compression is thought to be the cause of Cushing's Triad, a sign of increased ICP, which is described as bradycardia (abnormal slowed HR), respiratory depression and hypertension.¹⁹² However within the

supratentorial region, there was no difference between basal ganglic, thalamic and lobar hemorrhages in mass effect.²⁶

4.5 Pressure Gradients

Our results suggested epidural ICP measurements were sufficient without causing cortical damage. No detectable pressure differences were found between the epidural space and in the centre of the hematoma, suggesting the absence of a pressure gradient and thus, no "superior" location of monitoring. Though considered the "gold standard" in clinical settings, intraventricular readings were thus not attempted in this study. Though intraventricular and intraparenchymal monitoring both would have involved an invasive cannula extended into the brain, intraventricular monitoring would have theoretically caused more tissue damage. For example, an immobile cannula laterally positioned to the site of hematoma and edema growth would have caused tissue to push up against the cannula – causing tissue damage and potentially an artificial pressure gradient. In contrast, measuring in the centre of the hematoma would have been less destructive assuming the mass effect from the hematoma and edema will exert forces outward from the site of the initial bleed.

It is possible the absence of a pressure gradient could have been due to artificially reduced ICP readings in the intraparenchymal monitoring group. The cannula that extended into the hematoma may have provided a pathway for blood to travel upward and be flushed out with CSF. Though, no signs of subarachnoid hemorrhage were noticed in this method. Another explanation could be that the

hematoma provided a pliable space, thus more "give", than if the cannula were to be placed in the less pliable compressed tissue adjacent to the hematoma. However, this hypothesis cannot be tested as placing the cannula adjacent to the hematoma would be technically difficult and would involve predicting hematoma expansion.

Due to conflicting evidence in current animal literature, the presence of pressure gradients in ICH is undetermined. Thus, we continued to measure ICP in the epidural region exclusively as this method is less invasive than the intraparenchymal method. Future studies can include measuring in the intraventricular space to increase patency and avoid system failure as was seen 6 days after implant.

4.6 Physiological Parameters

Interestingly, HR and BP were not affected by ICH however these experiments were performed in relatively young, healthy, male rats. Most ICH patients are hypertensive upon admission with other comorbidities and experience sustained elevated BP or rapid decline in the first 24 hours - both of which are related to mortality.^{193, 194} Though not a large focus of our study, our experiment suggests these BP responses observed in clinic are not likely due to the ICH itself but the vulnerable combination of age and other comorbidities in response to an ICH or the body's natural response to maintain homeostasis (ie. increasing BP to increase cerebral perfusion). It is also possible acute BP rises are a non-specific (ie. stressful hospital admission experience) or specific (ie. injury to autonomic

areas of the brain) stress response to ICH. Again, our animal model did not have vulnerable cerebral vasculature or any comorbidities that may have contributed to BP responses. Thus, additional work in more clinically relevant models is required (eg. aged, hypertensive animals).

MAP also remained the same after ICH, and so CPP was almost exclusively determined by changes in ICP in our study. These modest reductions in CPP are in favour for the hypoperfused perihematomal region argument and suggest there is likely no ischemia present in these models. These small CPP changes can possibly provide a target for testing CPP-oriented therapies in animals. Whether or not these CPP reductions are even important in functional outcome in these models remains unknown. However, this can likely change if more clinically relevant models were used (eg. aged, hypertensive animals).

4.7 Limitations

The purpose of this thesis was to determine whether measuring ICP using telemetry in the current, commonly-used ICH rat models was feasible and if it were, to evaluate the face validity of these models in mimicking patient ICP. As previously shown by Silasi *et al.*, telemetry was successful in measuring ICP in animal models of ischemic stroke. The authors were able to demonstrate pathological increases when compared to pre-stroke ICP values. Ischemic stroke was induced by blocking blood flow to the carotid arteries that were accessed through the neck.¹³⁵ In contrast, the ICH models used in this study required stereotaxic drilling of the skull in order to inject collagenase or whole blood into

the striatum. Pre-stroke ICP values were thus not possible, as the ICP implant would have posed as a physical barrier. Previous attempts have been made to tuck the PA-C10 probe into the nape of the neck instead but artefacts were seen during trunk and neck movement.¹³⁵ Presently, installing the ICP assembly atop of the skull was the most appropriate approach to minimize artefacts.

The ICP rises noted in this study were much lower than expected, given the extent of injury. In our study, every 1% increase in water content correlated with a 0.96 mm Hg increase in ICP. The accuracy of our method was thus brought into question especially since the surgical procedure involved drilling a total of 3 holes into the skull. These holes potentially equalized pressure before they were sealed. It is likely that our ICP readings were slightly erroneous during the first day or at least the first few hours after ICH before ICP was allowed to re-stabilize, thus underestimating ICP and overlooking an initial increase in ICP. This could also have been an effect of anesthesia. Additionally, the sham group experienced an unexplained ICP rise on Day 6 and 7 that indicated a possible interruption in the fluid-filled system (e.g., clot or blockage at the tip of the cannula). However, all of these animals responded to the Valsalva manoeuvre on the seventh day. Full patency of the system may have been lost during this time. Despite the aforementioned complications, the ICP values found in our series of experiments for the first 4 days fell into the normal range of 0-12 mm Hg in unanesthetized rats.¹²³ This range might vary according to rat strains. ICP for Sprague Dawley rats, without anesthesia, approximates ~5 mm Hg which agrees with our findings.^{134, 135} Another study found ≤ 7.7 mm Hg.¹²² Wistar rats on the other

hand, appear to have a range that is a little higher: $\geq 9.1 \text{ mm Hg.}^{118, 132, 133}$ However, one research group found ICP to be \geq 8.39 mm Hg in the Sprague Dawley strain but this is not clear as some of their papers did not report exact values.¹²⁸⁻¹³⁰ Additionally, ≥ 9.22 mm Hg was found in Sprague Dawley rats using telemetry. The probe was subcutaneously implanted in the dorsal midscapular region and it was not clear whether the catheter was subject to movement that could have caused artefacts during physical activity,¹³⁶ as was seen in our lab's previous attempt.¹³⁵ Of interest, a study performed in TBIinjured Wistar and Spraque Dawley rats had similar ICP responses, though this was done in anesthetized animals and normal values were not reported nor compared.¹⁷⁷ However, a conclusive statement warrants experiments comparing the two species using the same ICP monitoring approach in awake animals. Lastly, the Valsalva manoeuver was successful in all animals immediately after surgery and prior to euthanasia. The transient spike and fall to baseline in ICP observed in our study was an easy and robust way to confirm our system was responsive although it does not test calibrations.

To evaluate the face validity of ICH rodent models, we first decided to induce a severe ICH using the collagenase model and observe ICP responses. Though mortality was not considered significantly different from the control group, 20% of the ICH-induced animals died in the first 24 hours. The highest ICP reading observed in rats that survived was 37 mm Hg however on average, an increase of 6.94 mm Hg was found across animals. The gap between ICH and sham animals were progressively less in moderate to severe lesions induced by the collagenase model, followed by the whole blood model. Severe increases in water content were observed in these models but dramatic increases in ICP did not result. Of course, our surrogate measure for edema was brain water content via the wet/dry method, which may not have provided representative values of "true edema". Water content within the hematoma may have confounded these numbers as blood water content is 82.7%¹⁹⁵ and pilot studies in our lab suggest this as well. Extracting perihematomal tissue would be required to circumvent this issue but this poses some challenges. Neatly separating the hematoma from its surrounding tissue without artificially altering the fluid contents of the tissue is technically difficult. Nevertheless, water content in the ipsilateral striatum was above 80% in ICH animals, suggesting cerebral swelling.

4.8 Future Directions

Further attempts to increase the patency of our ICP monitoring system to measure ICP at protracted time points are of interest. Only 3 sham animals were successfully monitored for 7 days in which 1 experienced "pathological" ICP rises (artefact) on Day 6 and 1 more on Day 7. Additional pilot studies are needed to confirm that the ICP system actually fails on the fourth day. Similarly, another study also showed an unexplained increase in ICP in their control group 4 hours after implantation.¹²² A future study can involve intraventricular monitoring to increase the patency of the system. The shaft of the nylon screw can also be excised to reduce the risk of tissue obstructing the system. The nylon screw head can be superimposed and fixed over the cranial burr hole to guide the cannula in.

In this case, the cannula will sit flush with the top of the skull instead of the bottom. Of course, this method allows more "space" within the skull and can possibly help alleviate ICP. However, pilot studies confirming whether the original system actually fails on the fourth day is required before such attempts are made.

If these attempts are successful, it would be important to determine the temporal ICP patterns following an ICH. Whether these increases are sustained, resolved or further increased is vital information in evaluating ICP-reducing therapies.¹⁹⁶ In our lab, hypothermia therapy is studied extensively and is of interest in targeting these ICP increases. Hypothermia therapy has shown some promise in reducing ICP.^{149, 197-199} The rewarming phase however is concerning as ICP can rebound during this time. It is important that rewarming in ICH models do not coincide with the natural peak in ICP as this can rebound and exacerbate ICP as seen in the National Acute Brain Injury Study: Hypothermia II.²⁰⁰ Several other studies also noted increases in ICP during rewarming^{197, 201} which can even lead to death.²⁰² A systematic review revealed that fast rewarming not only reverses the protection by hypothermia therapy but also exacerbates injury.²⁰³ Rewarming can cause cardiovascular collapse, reduced CPP and hypoxia, thus increasing ICP.²⁰⁴ Future experiments can test different rates of rewarming after ICH compared between different methods of cooling (eg. systemic and focal cooling).

Other ICP-reducing therapies can also be applied after ICH such as hypertonic saline solution or mannitol to alleviate ICP. Whether reductions can translate to

an improved outcome can help further validate these ICH models. These therapies can then pose as a positive control for evaluating future experimental treatments that target ICP.

To ensure accuracy of our telemetry ICP system, comparisons to other methods of monitoring can be performed in future experiments. Examples include using a solid state catheter under anesthesia or connecting the animal to a bench top BP monitor. The BP monitor can be attached to a swivel head atop of the cranium, allowing the animal to freely move. These may be cheaper methods in measuring ICP and allow for larger sample sizes. Our study was limited by the expensive cost of telemetry probes and thus, could only run a few animals at a time.

In our lab, we use several other telemetry devices such as ones that measure temperature and EEG activity. One of particular interest is our EEG probe. We recently found seizure activity after ICH animal models (Klahr et al., unpublished data). Post-ICH seizures occur in 28% of patients in the first 72 hours and were correlated with a midline shift.⁴⁶ Interestingly, those with a raised ICP did not present seizure activity⁴⁷ but those that experienced electrographic seizure activity after a TBI also experienced a higher ICP and increased metabolic distress than those who did not. The authors claim increases in ICP were likely to be due to increased CBF and volume.⁴⁸ It would be of interest for future studies to correlate seizure activity with ICP and even temperature.

It is also important to determine skull size and volume of brain components of the species and strain of interest - in our case, the Sprague Dawley. As noted

previously, Sprague Dawley rats appear to differ in injury tolerance and normal ICP values. It would thus be interesting to learn whether these differences could be attributed to higher brain compliance. Volume of brain components can be determined by brain imaging or by extraction methods such as hemoglobin assays for blood volume and the use of draw syringes for CSF collection.²⁰⁵ Additionally, to locate where current ICH rodent models lie on the pressurevolume curve, bolus or continuous injections of fluid that is immiscible with CSF could be performed. This can help determine whether ICH models currently used are in situations of high or low brain compliance. This can further be elaborated by location of injection or using animals of older age with comorbidities such as hypertension.^{49, 66} This would be interesting to note as CSF outflow resistance increases with age.¹⁶⁰ Thus, higher ICP rises may be observed in aged animals and would pose as a more clinically relevant model. This would be of interest for a future study. Older animals were shown to sustain more severe cerebral swelling than younger rats after an injection of 100 μ l of blood.²⁰⁶ However, this can partly be due to changes in blood components with age.²⁰⁷

4.9 Conclusions

Telemetry was successful in measuring ICP for at least 4 days after ICH in unanesthetized and untethered rats. ICP was increased after ICH when induced by collagenase but not by whole blood. Thus, these ICP rises observed in the collagenase model can serve as a target to evaluate ICP-reducing therapies.

However, further research is required to elucidate how these ICP increases can be used and translated to help guide therapy in clinical settings.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. World Health Organization. (2011). The top 10 causes of death. Retrieved from http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs310/en/
- World Health Organization. Global Burden of Stroke. (2013). Retrieved from http://www.who.int/cardiovascular_diseases/en/cvd_atlas_15_burden_stro ke.pdf
- 3. Heart & Stroke Foundation. (2013). Statistics. Retrieved from http://www.heartandstroke.com/site/c.ikIQLcMWJtE/b.3483991/
- 4. Narayan RK, Kishore PR, Becker DP, Ward JD, Enas GG, Greenberg RP, Domingues Da Silva A, Lipper MH, Choi SC, Mayhall CG, Lutz HA, 3rd, Young HF. Intracranial pressure: To monitor or not to monitor? A review of our experience with severe head injury. *J Neurosurg*. 1982;56:650-659
- 5. Qureshi AI, Tuhrim S, Broderick JP, Batjer HH, Hondo H, Hanley DF. Spontaneous intracerebral hemorrhage. *N Engl J Med*. 2001;344:1450-1460
- 6. Broderick JP, Brott T, Tomsick T, Miller R, Huster G. Intracerebral hemorrhage more than twice as common as subarachnoid hemorrhage. *J Neurosurg.* 1993;78:188-191
- 7. Sudlow CL, Warlow CP. Comparable studies of the incidence of stroke and its pathological types: Results from an international collaboration. International stroke incidence collaboration. *Stroke*. 1997;28:491-499
- 8. Broderick JP, Brott TG, Duldner JE, Tomsick T, Huster G. Volume of intracerebral hemorrhage. A powerful and easy-to-use predictor of 30-day mortality. *Stroke*. 1993;24:987-993
- 9. van Asch CJ, Luitse MJ, Rinkel GJ, van der Tweel I, Algra A, Klijn CJ. Incidence, case fatality, and functional outcome of intracerebral haemorrhage over time, according to age, sex, and ethnic origin: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Neurol.* 2010;9:167-176
- 10. Andrews BT, Chiles BW, 3rd, Olsen WL, Pitts LH. The effect of intracerebral hematoma location on the risk of brain-stem compression and on clinical outcome. *J Neurosurg*. 1988;69:518-522
- 11. Fogelholm R, Avikainen S, Murros K. Prognostic value and determinants of first-day mean arterial pressure in spontaneous supratentorial intracerebral hemorrhage. *Stroke*. 1997;28:1396-1400

- 12. Stein M, Misselwitz B, Hamann GF, Scharbrodt W, Schummer DI, Oertel MF. Intracerebral hemorrhage in the very old: Future demographic trends of an aging population. *Stroke*. 2012;43:1126-1128
- Hemphill JC, 3rd, Bonovich DC, Besmertis L, Manley GT, Johnston SC. The ich score: A simple, reliable grading scale for intracerebral hemorrhage. *Stroke*. 2001;32:891-897
- 14. Godoy DA, Pinero G, Di Napoli M. Predicting mortality in spontaneous intracerebral hemorrhage: Can modification to original score improve the prediction? *Stroke*. 2006;37:1038-1044
- 15. Xi G, Keep RF, Hoff JT. Mechanisms of brain injury after intracerebral haemorrhage. *Lancet Neurol*. 2006;5:53-63
- Lammie GA. Pathology of small vessel stroke. *Br Med Bull*. 2000;56:296-306
- 17. Garcia JH, Ho KL. Pathology of hypertensive arteriopathy. *Neurosurg Clin N Am.* 1992;3:497-507
- Davis SM, Broderick J, Hennerici M, Brun NC, Diringer MN, Mayer SA, Begtrup K, Steiner T. Hematoma growth is a determinant of mortality and poor outcome after intracerebral hemorrhage. *Neurology*. 2006;66:1175-1181
- 19. Brott T, Broderick J, Kothari R, Barsan W, Tomsick T, Sauerbeck L, Spilker J, Duldner J, Khoury J. Early hemorrhage growth in patients with intracerebral hemorrhage. *Stroke*. 1997;28:1-5
- Fujii Y, Tanaka R, Takeuchi S, Koike T, Minakawa T, Sasaki O. Hematoma enlargement in spontaneous intracerebral hemorrhage. J Neurosurg. 1994;80:51-57
- 21. Yang GY, Betz AL, Chenevert TL, Brunberg JA, Hoff JT. Experimental intracerebral hemorrhage: Relationship between brain edema, blood flow, and blood-brain barrier permeability in rats. *J Neurosurg*. 1994;81:93-102
- 22. Hua Y, Keep RF, Hoff JT, Xi G. Brain injury after intracerebral hemorrhage: The role of thrombin and iron. *Stroke*. 2007;38:759-762
- 23. Gong C, Hoff JT, Keep RF. Acute inflammatory reaction following experimental intracerebral hemorrhage in rat. *Brain Res.* 2000;871:57-65
- 24. Xi G, Keep RF, Hoff JT. Erythrocytes and delayed brain edema formation following intracerebral hemorrhage in rats. *J Neurosurg*. 1998;89:991-996
- Rodriguez-Luna D, Rubiera M, Ribo M, Coscojuela P, Pineiro S, Pagola J, Hernandez-Guillamon M, Ibarra B, Romero F, Alvarez-Sabin J, Montaner J, Molina CA. Ultraearly hematoma growth predicts poor outcome after acute intracerebral hemorrhage. *Neurology*. 2011;77:1599-1604
- 26. Zazulia AR, Diringer MN, Derdeyn CP, Powers WJ. Progression of mass effect after intracerebral hemorrhage. *Stroke*. 1999;30:1167-1173
- 27. Staykov D, Wagner I, Volbers B, Hauer EM, Doerfler A, Schwab S, Bardutzky J. Natural course of perihemorrhagic edema after intracerebral hemorrhage. *Stroke*. 2011;42:2625-2629
- 28. Venkatasubramanian C, Mlynash M, Finley-Caulfield A, Eyngorn I, Kalimuthu R, Snider RW, Wijman CA. Natural history of perihematomal edema after intracerebral hemorrhage measured by serial magnetic resonance imaging. *Stroke*. 2011;42:73-80
- 29. Bullock R, Brock-Utne J, van Dellen J, Blake G. Intracerebral hemorrhage in a primate model: Effect on regional cerebral blood flow. *Surg Neurol*. 1988;29:101-107
- 30. Orakcioglu B, Fiebach JB, Steiner T, Kollmar R, Juttler E, Becker K, Schwab S, Heiland S, Meyding-Lamade UK, Schellinger PD. Evolution of early perihemorrhagic changes--ischemia vs. Edema: An mri study in rats. *Exp Neurol*. 2005;193:369-376
- 31. Xi G, Hua Y, Bhasin RR, Ennis SR, Keep RF, Hoff JT. Mechanisms of edema formation after intracerebral hemorrhage: Effects of extravasated red blood cells on blood flow and blood-brain barrier integrity. *Stroke*. 2001;32:2932-2938
- 32. Schellinger PD, Fiebach JB, Hoffmann K, Becker K, Orakcioglu B, Kollmar R, Juttler E, Schramm P, Schwab S, Sartor K, Hacke W. Stroke mri in intracerebral hemorrhage: Is there a perihemorrhagic penumbra? *Stroke*. 2003;34:1674-1679
- Zazulia AR, Diringer MN, Videen TO, Adams RE, Yundt K, Aiyagari V, Grubb RL, Jr., Powers WJ. Hypoperfusion without ischemia surrounding acute intracerebral hemorrhage. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2001;21:804-810
- 34. Butcher KS, Baird T, MacGregor L, Desmond P, Tress B, Davis S. Perihematomal edema in primary intracerebral hemorrhage is plasma derived. *Stroke*. 2004;35:1879-1885
- 35. Nath FP, Kelly PT, Jenkins A, Mendelow AD, Graham DI, Teasdale GM. Effects of experimental intracerebral hemorrhage on blood flow, capillary permeability, and histochemistry. *J Neurosurg*. 1987;66:555-562

- 36. Wagner KR, Xi G, Hua Y, Kleinholz M, de Courten-Myers GM, Myers RE, Broderick JP, Brott TG. Lobar intracerebral hemorrhage model in pigs: Rapid edema development in perihematomal white matter. *Stroke*. 1996;27:490-497
- Butcher KS, Jeerakathil T, Hill M, Demchuk AM, Dowlatshahi D, Coutts SB, Gould B, McCourt R, Asdaghi N, Findlay JM, Emery D, Shuaib A. The intracerebral hemorrhage acutely decreasing arterial pressure trial. *Stroke*. 2013;44:620-626
- 38. Qureshi AI, Wilson DA, Hanley DF, Traystman RJ. Pharmacologic reduction of mean arterial pressure does not adversely affect regional cerebral blood flow and intracranial pressure in experimental intracerebral hemorrhage. *Crit Care Med.* 1999;27:965-971
- 39. Hua Y, Xi G, Keep RF, Hoff JT. Complement activation in the brain after experimental intracerebral hemorrhage. *J Neurosurg*. 2000;92:1016-1022
- 40. Lee KR, Kawai N, Kim S, Sagher O, Hoff JT. Mechanisms of edema formation after intracerebral hemorrhage: Effects of thrombin on cerebral blood flow, blood-brain barrier permeability, and cell survival in a rat model. *J Neurosurg.* 1997;86:272-278
- 41. Wu J, Hua Y, Keep RF, Schallert T, Hoff JT, Xi G. Oxidative brain injury from extravasated erythrocytes after intracerebral hemorrhage. *Brain Res.* 2002;953:45-52
- 42. Wu G, Xi G, Hua Y, Sagher O. T2* magnetic resonance imaging sequences reflect brain tissue iron deposition following intracerebral hemorrhage. *Transl Stroke Res.* 2010;1:31-34
- Gingrich MB, Junge CE, Lyuboslavsky P, Traynelis SF. Potentiation of nmda receptor function by the serine protease thrombin. *J Neurosci*. 2000;20:4582-4595
- 44. Wang J, Dore S. Inflammation after intracerebral hemorrhage. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab.* 2007;27:894-908
- 45. Passero S, Rocchi R, Rossi S, Ulivelli M, Vatti G. Seizures after spontaneous supratentorial intracerebral hemorrhage. *Epilepsia*. 2002;43:1175-1180
- 46. Vespa PM, O'Phelan K, Shah M, Mirabelli J, Starkman S, Kidwell C, Saver J, Nuwer MR, Frazee JG, McArthur DA, Martin NA. Acute seizures after intracerebral hemorrhage: A factor in progressive midline shift and outcome. *Neurology*. 2003;60:1441-1446

- 47. McNamara B, Ray J, Menon D, Boniface S. Raised intracranial pressure and seizures in the neurological intensive care unit. *Br J Anaesth*. 2003;90:39-42
- 48. Vespa PM, Miller C, McArthur D, Eliseo M, Etchepare M, Hirt D, Glenn TC, Martin N, Hovda D. Nonconvulsive electrographic seizures after traumatic brain injury result in a delayed, prolonged increase in intracranial pressure and metabolic crisis. *Crit Care Med.* 2007;35:2830-2836
- 49. STAIR (1999) Recommendations for standards regarding preclinical neuroprotective and restorative drug development. Stroke Therapy Academic Industry Roundtable. Stroke 30:2752-2758.
- 50. Dirnagl U. Bench to bedside: The quest for quality in experimental stroke research. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab.* 2006;26:1465-1478
- 51. Gladstone DJ, Black SE, Hakim AM. Toward wisdom from failure: Lessons from neuroprotective stroke trials and new therapeutic directions. *Stroke*. 2002;33:2123-2136
- 52. O'Collins VE, Macleod MR, Donnan GA, Horky LL, van der Worp BH, Howells DW. 1,026 experimental treatments in acute stroke. *Ann Neurol*. 2006;59:467-477
- 53. MacLellan CL, Paquette R, Colbourne F. A critical appraisal of experimental intracerebral hemorrhage research. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab.* 2012;32:612-627
- 54. Andaluz N, Zuccarello M, Wagner KR. Experimental animal models of intracerebral hemorrhage. *Neurosurg Clin N Am.* 2002;13:385-393
- 55. Manaenko A, Chen H, Zhang JH, Tang J. Comparison of different preclinical models of intracerebral hemorrhage. *Acta Neurochir Suppl.* 2011;111:9-14
- 56. Sinar EJ, Mendelow AD, Graham DI, Teasdale GM. Experimental intracerebral hemorrhage: Effects of a temporary mass lesion. *J Neurosurg*. 1987;66:568-576
- 57. Lee JM, Zhai G, Liu Q, Gonzales ER, Yin K, Yan P, Hsu CY, Vo KD, Lin W. Vascular permeability precedes spontaneous intracerebral hemorrhage in stroke-prone spontaneously hypertensive rats. *Stroke*. 2007;38:3289-3291
- 58. Laurent JP, Molinari GF, Oakley JC. Primate model of cerebral hematoma. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol*. 1976;35:560-568

- 59. Ropper AH, Zervas NT. Cerebral blood flow after experimental basal ganglia hemorrhage. *Ann Neurol*. 1982;11:266-271
- 60. Bullock R, Mendelow AD, Teasdale GM, Graham DI. Intracranial haemorrhage induced at arterial pressure in the rat. Part 1: Description of technique, icp changes and neuropathological findings. *Neurol Res.* 1984;6:184-188
- 61. Nath FP, Jenkins A, Mendelow AD, Graham DI, Teasdale GM. Early hemodynamic changes in experimental intracerebral hemorrhage. *J Neurosurg*. 1986;65:697-703
- 62. Deinsberger W, Vogel J, Kuschinsky W, Auer LM, Boker DK. Experimental intracerebral hemorrhage: Description of a double injection model in rats. *Neurol Res.* 1996;18:475-477
- 63. MacLellan CL, Silasi G, Poon CC, Edmundson CL, Buist R, Peeling J, Colbourne F. Intracerebral hemorrhage models in rat: Comparing collagenase to blood infusion. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab*. 2008;28:516-525
- 64. Rynkowski MA, Kim GH, Komotar RJ, Otten ML, Ducruet AF, Zacharia BE, Kellner CP, Hahn DK, Merkow MB, Garrett MC, Starke RM, Cho BM, Sosunov SA, Connolly ES. A mouse model of intracerebral hemorrhage using autologous blood infusion. *Nat Protoc*. 2008;3:122-128
- 65. Wang J, Fields J, Dore S. The development of an improved preclinical mouse model of intracerebral hemorrhage using double infusion of autologous whole blood. *Brain Res.* 2008;1222:214-221
- 66. Kusaka G, Calvert JW, Smelley C, Nanda A, Zhang JH. New lumbar method for monitoring cerebrospinal fluid pressure in rats. *J Neurosci Methods*. 2004;135:121-127
- 67. Kleinig TJ, Helps SC, Ghabriel MN, Manavis J, Leigh C, Blumbergs PC, Vink R. Hemoglobin crystals: A pro-inflammatory potential confounder of rat experimental intracerebral hemorrhage. *Brain Res.* 2009;1287:164-172
- 68. Rosenberg GA, Mun-Bryce S, Wesley M, Kornfeld M. Collagenaseinduced intracerebral hemorrhage in rats. *Stroke*. 1990;21:801-807
- 69. Terai K, Suzuki M, Sasamata M, Miyata K. Amount of bleeding and hematoma size in the collagenase-induced intracerebral hemorrhage rat model. *Neurochem Res.* 2003;28:779-785
- 70. Nguyen AP, Huynh HD, Sjovold SB, Colbourne F. Progressive brain damage and alterations in dendritic arborization after collagenase-induced intracerebral hemorrhage in rats. *Curr Neurovasc Res.* 2008;5:171-177

- 71. MacLellan CL, Auriat AM, McGie SC, Yan RH, Huynh HD, De Butte MF, Colbourne F. Gauging recovery after hemorrhagic stroke in rats: Implications for cytoprotection studies. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab*. 2006;26:1031-1042
- 72. Kirkman MA, Allan SM, Parry-Jones AR. Experimental intracerebral hemorrhage: Avoiding pitfalls in translational research. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab*. 2011;31:2135-2151
- 73. Klatzo I. Presidental address. Neuropathological aspects of brain edema. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 1967;26:1-14
- 74. Thiex R, Tsirka SE. Brain edema after intracerebral hemorrhage: Mechanisms, treatment options, management strategies, and operative indications. *Neurosurg Focus*. 2007;22:E6
- 75. Xi G, Keep RF, Hoff JT. Pathophysiology of brain edema formation. *Neurosurg Clin N Am.* 2002;13:371-383
- 76. Xi G, Wagner KR, Keep RF, Hua Y, de Courten-Myers GM, Broderick JP, Brott TG, Hoff JT. Role of blood clot formation on early edema development after experimental intracerebral hemorrhage. *Stroke*. 1998;29:2580-2586
- 77. Gebel JM, Brott TG, Sila CA, Tomsick TA, Jauch E, Salisbury S, Khoury J, Miller R, Pancioli A, Duldner JE, Topol EJ, Broderick JP. Decreased perihematomal edema in thrombolysis-related intracerebral hemorrhage compared with spontaneous intracerebral hemorrhage. *Stroke*. 2000;31:596-600
- 78. Huang FP, Xi G, Keep RF, Hua Y, Nemoianu A, Hoff JT. Brain edema after experimental intracerebral hemorrhage: Role of hemoglobin degradation products. *J Neurosurg*. 2002;96:287-293
- 79. Wu G, Xi G, Huang F. Spontaneous intracerebral hemorrhage in humans: Hematoma enlargement, clot lysis, and brain edema. *Acta Neurochir Suppl.* 2006;96:78-80
- 80. Hua Y, Schallert T, Keep RF, Wu J, Hoff JT, Xi G. Behavioral tests after intracerebral hemorrhage in the rat. *Stroke*. 2002;33:2478-2484
- 81. Fingas M, Clark DL, Colbourne F. The effects of selective brain hypothermia on intracerebral hemorrhage in rats. *Exp Neurol*. 2007;208:277-284
- 82. Inaji M, Tomita H, Tone O, Tamaki M, Suzuki R, Ohno K. Chronological changes of perihematomal edema of human intracerebral hematoma. *Acta Neurochir Suppl.* 2003;86:445-448

- Priorities for clinical research in intracerebral hemorrhage: Report from a national institute of neurological disorders and stroke workshop. *Stroke*. 2005;36:e23-41
- Mayer SA, Sacco RL, Shi T, Mohr JP. Neurologic deterioration in noncomatose patients with supratentorial intracerebral hemorrhage. *Neurology*. 1994;44:1379-1384
- 85. Kuroiwa T, Okauchi M, Hua Y, Schallert T, Keep RF, Xi G. Neurological deficits and brain edema after intracerebral hemorrhage in mongolian gerbils. *Acta Neurochir Suppl.* 2008;105:127-130
- Kamel H, Navi BB, Nakagawa K, Hemphill JC, 3rd, Ko NU. Hypertonic saline versus mannitol for the treatment of elevated intracranial pressure: A meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. *Crit Care Med*. 2011;39:554-559
- 87. Dunn LT. Raised intracranial pressure. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. 2002;73 Suppl 1:i23-27
- 88. Chambers IR, Banister K, Mendelow AD. Intracranial pressure within a developing intracerebral haemorrhage. *Br J Neurosurg*. 2001;15:140-141
- 89. Bekar A, Taskapilioglu O, Yilmazlar S, Ender K, Aksoy K. Is supratentorial pressure difference clinically relevant? Analysis of 55 consecutive cases by bilateral intracranial pressure monitoring. *Neurol Res.* 2008;30:465-470
- 90. Sahuquillo J, Poca MA, Arribas M, Garnacho A, Rubio E. Interhemispheric supratentorial intracranial pressure gradients in headinjured patients: Are they clinically important? *J Neurosurg*. 1999;90:16-26
- 91. Yano M, Ikeda Y, Kobayashi S, Otsuka T. Intracranial pressure in headinjured patients with various intracranial lesions is identical throughout the supratentorial intracranial compartment. *Neurosurgery*. 1987;21:688-692
- 92. Mindermann T, Gratzl O. Interhemispheric pressure gradients in severe head trauma in humans. *Acta Neurochir Suppl.* 1998;71:56-58
- 93. Ganz JC, Hall C, Zwetnow NN. Cerebral blood flow during experimental epidural bleeding in swine. *Acta Neurochir (Wien)*. 1990;103:148-157
- 94. Wolfla CE, Luerssen TG, Bowman RM, Putty TK. Brain tissue pressure gradients created by expanding frontal epidural mass lesion. *J Neurosurg*. 1996;84:642-647

- 95. Symon L, Pasztor E, Branston NM, Dorsch NW. Effect of supratentorial space-occupying lesions on regional intracranial pressure and local cerebral blood flow: An experimental study in baboons. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. 1974;37:617-626
- 96. Miller JD, Peeler DF, Pattisapu J, Parent AD. Supratentorial pressures. Part i: Differential intracranial pressures. *Neurol Res.* 1987;9:193-197
- 97. Schmidt EA, Czosnyka Z, Momjian S, Czosnyka M, Bech RA, Pickard JD. Intracranial baroreflex yielding an early cushing response in human. *Acta Neurochir Suppl.* 2005;95:253-256
- 98. Lavinio A, Czosnyka Z, Czosnyka M. Cerebrospinal fluid dynamics: Disturbances and diagnostics. *Eur J Anaesthesiol Suppl*. 2008;42:137-141
- 99. Lavinio A, Menon DK. Intracranial pressure: Why we monitor it, how to monitor it, what to do with the number and what's the future? *Curr Opin Anaesthesiol*. 2011;24:117-123
- 100. Miller JD, Pickard JD. Intracranial volume pressure studies in patients with head injury. *Injury*. 1974;5:265-268
- 101. Morgenstern LB, Hemphill JC, 3rd, Anderson C, Becker K, Broderick JP, Connolly ES, Jr., Greenberg SM, Huang JN, MacDonald RL, Messe SR, Mitchell PH, Selim M, Tamargo RJ. Guidelines for the management of spontaneous intracerebral hemorrhage: A guideline for healthcare professionals from the american heart association/american stroke association. *Stroke*. 2010;41:2108-2129
- 102. Barlow P, Mendelow AD, Lawrence AE, Barlow M, Rowan JO. Clinical evaluation of two methods of subdural pressure monitoring. *J Neurosurg*. 1985;63:578-582
- 103. Lozier AP, Sciacca RR, Romagnoli MF, Connolly ES, Jr. Ventriculostomy-related infections: A critical review of the literature. *Neurosurgery*. 2002;51:170-181; discussion 181-172
- Bauer DF, Razdan SN, Bartolucci AA, Markert JM. Meta-analysis of hemorrhagic complications from ventriculostomy placement by neurosurgeons. *Neurosurgery*. 2011;69:255-260
- 105. Guidelines for the management of severe traumatic brain injury. *J Neurotrauma*. 2007;24 Suppl 1:S1-106
- 106. Raboel PH, Bartek J, Jr., Andresen M, Bellander BM, Romner B. Intracranial pressure monitoring: Invasive versus non-invasive methods-a review. *Crit Care Res Pract*. 2012;2012:950393

- 107. Kiefer M, Antes S, Leonhardt S, Schmitt M, Orakcioglu B, Sakowitz OW, Eymann R. Telemetric icp measurement with the first ce-approved device: Data from animal experiments and initial clinical experiences. *Acta Neurochir Suppl.* 2012;114:111-116
- 108. Bratton SL, Chestnut RM, Ghajar J, McConnell Hammond FF, Harris OA, Hartl R, Manley GT, Nemecek A, Newell DW, Rosenthal G, Schouten J, Shutter L, Timmons SD, Ullman JS, Videtta W, Wilberger JE, Wright DW. Guidelines for the management of severe traumatic brain injury. Vii. Intracranial pressure monitoring technology. *J Neurotrauma*. 2007;24 Suppl 1:S45-54
- 109. Gyring JA, Brondsted HE. Repetitive measurements of intracranial pressure in awake rabbits. *Acta Physiol Scand*. 1984;122:299-305
- 110. Brakkee JH, Wiegant VM, Gispen WH. A simple technique for rapid implantation of a permanent cannula into the rat brain ventricular system. *Lab Anim Sci.* 1979;29:78-81
- 111. Zwienenberg M, Gong QZ, Lee LL, Berman RF, Lyeth BG. Icp monitoring in the rat: Comparison of monitoring in the ventricle, brain parenchyma, and cisterna magna. *J Neurotrauma*. 1999;16:1095-1102
- 112. Barth KN, Onesti ST, Krauss WE, Solomon RA. A simple and reliable technique to monitor intracranial pressure in the rat: Technical note. *Neurosurgery*. 1992;30:138-140
- 113. Rahimifar M, Tator CH, Shanlin RJ, Sole MJ. Effect of blood transfusion, dopamine, or normal saline on neurogenic shock secondary to acutely raised intracranial pressure. *Journal of Neurosurgery*. 1989;70:932-941
- Andrews BT, Levy M, McIntosh TK, Pitts LH. An epidural intracranial pressure monitor for experimental use in the rat. *Neurol Res.* 1988;10:123-126
- 115. Qureshi AI, Wilson DA, Traystman RJ. Treatment of elevated intracranial pressure in experimental intracerebral hemorrhage: Comparison between mannitol and hypertonic saline. *Neurosurgery*. 1999;44:1055-1063; discussion 1063-1054
- 116. Jung C, Unterberg A. Intracranial pressure assessments. In: Chen J, Xu X-M, Xu ZC, Zhang JH, eds. *Animal models of acute neurological injuries ii*. Humana Press; 2012:393-399.
- 117. Kawaguchi M, Furuya H, Patel PM. Neuroprotective effects of anesthetic agents. *J Anesth*. 2005;19:150-156

- 118. Jiang J, Tyssebotn I. Measurement of cerebrospinal fluid pressure in conscious rats. *Undersea Hyperb Med.* 1997;24:39-43
- 119. Albanese J, Arnaud S, Rey M, Thomachot L, Alliez B, Martin C. Ketamine decreases intracranial pressure and electroencephalographic activity in traumatic brain injury patients during propofol sedation. *Anesthesiology*. 1997;87:1328-1334
- Jennett WB, Barker J, Fitch W, McDowall DG. Effect of anaesthesia on intracranial pressure in patients with space-occupying lesions. *Lancet*. 1969;1:61-64
- 121. Khatibi NH, Ma Q, Rolland W, Ostrowski R, Fathali N, Martin R, Applegate R, Stier G, Tang J, Zhang JH. Isoflurane posttreatment reduces brain injury after an intracerebral hemorrhagic stroke in mice. *Anesth Analg.* 2011;113:343-348
- 122. Rooker S, Jorens PG, Van Reempts J, Borgers M, Verlooy J. Continuous measurement of intracranial pressure in awake rats after experimental closed head injury. *J Neurosci Methods*. 2003;131:75-81
- 123. Brosnan RJ, LeCouteur RA, Steffey EP, Imai A, Kortz GD. Direct measurement of intracranial pressure in adult horses. Am J Vet Res. 2002;63:1252-1256
- 124. Kortz GD, Madigan JE, Goetzman BW, Durando M. Intracranial pressure and cerebral perfusion pressure in clinically normal equine neonates. *Am J Vet Res.* 1995;56:1351-1355
- 125. Gucer G, Viernstein LJ. Intracranial pressure in the normal monkey while awake and asleep. *J Neurosurg*. 1979;51:206-210
- 126. Verdura J, White RJ, Kretchmer H. A simplified method for obtaining cerebrospinal fluid pressure measurements in the dog. *J Appl Physiol*. 1963;18:837-838
- 127. Albrecht RF, Miletich DJ, Ruttle M. Cerebral effects of extended hyperventilation in unanesthetized goats. *Stroke*. 1987;18:649-655
- 128. Starcevic VP, Morrow BA, Farner LA, Keil LC, Severs WB. Long-term recording of cerebrospinal fluid pressure in freely behaving rats. *Brain Res.* 1988;462:112-117
- Morrow BA, Starcevic VP, Keil LC, Seve WB. Intracranial hypertension after cerebroventricular infusions in conscious rats. *Am J Physiol*. 1990;258:R1170-1176

- Severs WB, Morrow BA, Keil LC. Cerebrospinal fluid pressure in conscious head-down tilted rats. *Aviat Space Environ Med.* 1991;62:944-946
- Mann JD, Butler AB, Rosenthal JE, Maffeo CJ, Johnson RN, Bass NH. Regulation of intracranial pressure in rat, dog, and man. *Ann Neurol*. 1978;3:156-165
- Verlooy J, Selosse P, Van Reempts J, Haseldonckx M, Borgers M. Fiberoptic intracranial pressure monitoring in rats. *J Neurosci Methods*. 1990;31:1-6
- 133. Sanchez-Valverde MA, Laredo FG, Lopez F, Agut A, Marciano J. Method of recording cerebrospinal fluid pressure at three anatomic places in conscious and unrestrained adult wistar rats. *Neuroscience Research*. 1995;24:103-107
- 134. Mandell EC, Zimmermann E. Continuous measurement of cerebrospinal fluid pressure in unrestrained rats. *Physiol Behav.* 1980;24:399-402
- 135. Silasi G, MacLellan CL, Colbourne F. Use of telemetry blood pressure transmitters to measure intracranial pressure (icp) in freely moving rats. *Curr Neurovasc Res.* 2009;6:62-69
- 136. Lin JS, Liu JH. Circadian variations in intracranial pressure and translaminar pressure difference in sprague-dawley rats. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 2010;51:5739-5743
- 137. Steiner LA, Andrews PJ. Monitoring the injured brain: Icp and cbf. *Br J Anaesth*. 2006;97:26-38
- 138. Strandgaard S, Jones JV, MacKenzie ET, Harper AM. Upper limit of cerebral blood flow autoregulation in experimental renovascular hypertension in the baboon. *Circ Res.* 1975;37:164-167
- 139. Strandgaard S, Olesen J, Skinhoj E, Lassen NA. Autoregulation of brain circulation in severe arterial hypertension. *Br Med J*. 1973;1:507-510
- 140. Iadecola C, Davisson RL. Hypertension and cerebrovascular dysfunction. *Cell Metab.* 2008;7:476-484
- 141. Markus HS. Cerebral perfusion and stroke. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry*. 2004;75:353-361
- 142. Dennis LJ, Mayer SA. Diagnosis and management of increased intracranial pressure. *Neurol India*. 2001;49 Suppl 1:S37-50

- 143. Grande PO, Romner B. Osmotherapy in brain edema: A questionable therapy. *J Neurosurg Anesthesiol*. 2012;24:407-412
- 144. Roberts DJ, Hall RI, Kramer AH, Robertson HL, Gallagher CN, Zygun DA. Sedation for critically ill adults with severe traumatic brain injury: A systematic review of randomized controlled trials. *Crit Care Med*. 2011;39:2743-2751
- 145. Muizelaar JP, Marmarou A, Ward JD, Kontos HA, Choi SC, Becker DP, Gruemer H, Young HF. Adverse effects of prolonged hyperventilation in patients with severe head injury: A randomized clinical trial. *J Neurosurg*. 1991;75:731-739
- 146. Stocchetti N, Maas AI, Chieregato A, van der Plas AA. Hyperventilation in head injury: A review. *Chest*. 2005;127:1812-1827
- 147. Eisenberg HM, Frankowski RF, Contant CF, Marshall LF, Walker MD. High-dose barbiturate control of elevated intracranial pressure in patients with severe head injury. *J Neurosurg*. 1988;69:15-23
- 148. Broderick J, Connolly S, Feldmann E, Hanley D, Kase C, Krieger D, Mayberg M, Morgenstern L, Ogilvy CS, Vespa P, Zuccarello M. Guidelines for the management of spontaneous intracerebral hemorrhage in adults: 2007 update: A guideline from the american heart association/american stroke association stroke council, high blood pressure research council, and the quality of care and outcomes in research interdisciplinary working group. *Stroke*. 2007;38:2001-2023
- 149. Kollmar R, Staykov D, Dorfler A, Schellinger PD, Schwab S, Bardutzky J. Hypothermia reduces perihemorrhagic edema after intracerebral hemorrhage. *Stroke*. 2010;41:1684-1689
- 150. Staykov D, Schwab S, Dörfler A, Kollmar R. Hypothermia Reduces Perihemorrhagic Edema After Intracerebral Hemorrhage: But Does It Influence Functional Outcome and Mortality? Therapeutic Hypothermia and Temperature Management. 2011;1:2.
- 151. Sadaka F, Veremakis C. Therapeutic hypothermia for the management of intracranial hypertension in severe traumatic brain injury: A systematic review. *Brain Inj.* 2012;26:899-908
- 152. Andrews PJ, Sinclair HL, Battison CG, Polderman KH, Citerio G, Mascia L, Harris BA, Murray GD, Stocchetti N, Menon DK, Shakur H, De Backer D. European society of intensive care medicine study of therapeutic hypothermia (32-35 degrees c) for intracranial pressure reduction after traumatic brain injury (the eurotherm3235trial). *Trials*. 2011;12:8

- 153. Jaeger M, Soehle M, Meixensberger J. Effects of decompressive craniectomy on brain tissue oxygen in patients with intracranial hypertension. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. 2003;74:513-515
- 154. Polin RS, Shaffrey ME, Bogaev CA, Tisdale N, Germanson T, Bocchicchio B, Jane JA. Decompressive bifrontal craniectomy in the treatment of severe refractory posttraumatic cerebral edema. *Neurosurgery*. 1997;41:84-92; discussion 92-84
- 155. Albanese J, Leone M, Alliez JR, Kaya JM, Antonini F, Alliez B, Martin C. Decompressive craniectomy for severe traumatic brain injury: Evaluation of the effects at one year. *Crit Care Med*. 2003;31:2535-2538
- 156. Hutchinson PJ, Corteen E, Czosnyka M, Mendelow AD, Menon DK, Mitchell P, Murray G, Pickard JD, Rickels E, Sahuquillo J, Servadei F, Teasdale GM, Timofeev I, Unterberg A, Kirkpatrick PJ. Decompressive craniectomy in traumatic brain injury: The randomized multicenter rescueicp study (<u>www.Rescueicp.Com</u>). Acta Neurochir Suppl. 2006;96:17-20
- 157. Rosner MJ, Coley IB. Cerebral perfusion pressure, intracranial pressure, and head elevation. *J Neurosurg*. 1986;65:636-641
- 158. Feldman Z, Kanter MJ, Robertson CS, Contant CF, Hayes C, Sheinberg MA, Villareal CA, Narayan RK, Grossman RG. Effect of head elevation on intracranial pressure, cerebral perfusion pressure, and cerebral blood flow in head-injured patients. *J Neurosurg*. 1992;76:207-211
- 159. Durward QJ, Amacher AL, Del Maestro RF, Sibbald WJ. Cerebral and cardiovascular responses to changes in head elevation in patients with intracranial hypertension. *J Neurosurg*. 1983;59:938-944
- 160. Bruce DA, Langfitt TW, Miller JD, Schutz H, Vapalahti MP, Stanek A, Goldberg HI. Regional cerebral blood flow, intracranial pressure, and brain metabolism in comatose patients. *Journal of Neurosurgery*. 1973;38:131-144
- Albeck MJ, Skak C, Nielsen PR, Olsen KS, Børgesen SE, Gjerris F. Age dependency of resistance to cerebrospinal fluid outflow. *Journal of Neurosurgery*. 1998;89:275-278
- 162. Bingaman WE, Frank JI. Malignant cerebral edema and intracranial hypertension. *Neurol Clin.* 1995;13:479-509
- 163. Dahlqvist MB, Andres RH, Raabe A, Jakob SM, Takala J, Dunser MW. Brain herniation in a patient with apparently normal intracranial pressure: A case report. *J Med Case Rep.* 2010;4:297

- 164. Janny P, Papo I, Chazal J, Colnet G, Barretto LC. Intracranial hypertension and prognosis of spontaneous intracerebral haematomas. A correlative study of 60 patients. *Acta Neurochir (Wien)*. 1982;61:181-186
- 165. Papo I, Janny P, Caruselli G, Colnet G, Luongo A. Intracranial pressure time course in primary intracerebral hemorrhage. *Neurosurgery*. 1979;4:504-511
- 166. Badri S, Chen J, Barber J, Temkin NR, Dikmen SS, Chesnut RM, Deem S, Yanez ND, Treggiari MM. Mortality and long-term functional outcome associated with intracranial pressure after traumatic brain injury. *Intensive Care Med.* 2012;38:1800-1809
- Shafi S, Diaz-Arrastia R, Madden C, Gentilello L. Intracranial pressure monitoring in brain-injured patients is associated with worsening of survival. *J Trauma*. 2008;64:335-340
- 168. Cremer OL, van Dijk GW, van Wensen E, Brekelmans GJ, Moons KG, Leenen LP, Kalkman CJ. Effect of intracranial pressure monitoring and targeted intensive care on functional outcome after severe head injury. *Crit Care Med.* 2005;33:2207-2213
- 169. Andrews PJ, Sleeman DH, Statham PF, McQuatt A, Corruble V, Jones PA, Howells TP, Macmillan CS. Predicting recovery in patients suffering from traumatic brain injury by using admission variables and physiological data: A comparison between decision tree analysis and logistic regression. *J Neurosurg*. 2002;97:326-336
- 170. Changaris DG, McGraw CP, Richardson JD, Garretson HD, Arpin EJ, Shields CB. Correlation of cerebral perfusion pressure and glasgow coma scale to outcome. *J Trauma*. 1987;27:1007-1013
- 171. Clifton GL, Miller ER, Choi SC, Levin HS. Fluid thresholds and outcome from severe brain injury. *Crit Care Med*. 2002;30:739-745
- 172. Juul N, Morris GF, Marshall SB, Marshall LF. Intracranial hypertension and cerebral perfusion pressure: Influence on neurological deterioration and outcome in severe head injury. The executive committee of the international selfotel trial. *J Neurosurg*. 2000;92:1-6
- 173. Howells T, Elf K, Jones PA, Ronne-Engstrom E, Piper I, Nilsson P, Andrews P, Enblad P. Pressure reactivity as a guide in the treatment of cerebral perfusion pressure in patients with brain trauma. *J Neurosurg*. 2005;102:311-317
- 174. Steiner LA, Czosnyka M, Piechnik SK, Smielewski P, Chatfield D, Menon DK, Pickard JD. Continuous monitoring of cerebrovascular pressure reactivity allows determination of optimal cerebral perfusion

pressure in patients with traumatic brain injury. *Crit Care Med.* 2002;30:733-738

- 175. Schwab M, Bauer R, Zwiener U. The distribution of normal brain water content in wistar rats and its increase due to ischemia. *Brain Res.* 1997;749:82-87
- 176. Volpin L, Cervellini P, Colombo F, Zanusso M, Benedetti A. Spontaneous intracerebral hematomas: A new proposal about the usefulness and limits of surgical treatment. *Neurosurgery*. 1984;15:663-666
- 177. Engelborghs K, Verlooy J, Van Reempts J, Van Deuren B, Van de Ven M, Borgers M. Temporal changes in intracranial pressure in a modified experimental model of closed head injury. *Journal of Neurosurgery*. 1998;89:796-806
- 178. Xi G, Hua Y, Keep RF, Younger JG, Hoff JT. Brain edema after intracerebral hemorrhage: The effects of systemic complement depletion. *Acta Neurochir Suppl.* 2002;81:253-256
- 179. Kitaoka T, Hua Y, Xi G, Hoff JT, Keep RF. Delayed argatroban treatment reduces edema in a rat model of intracerebral hemorrhage. *Stroke*. 2002;33:3012-3018
- 180. Rosenberg GA, Estrada EY, Dencoff JE. Matrix metalloproteinases and timps are associated with blood-brain barrier opening after reperfusion in rat brain. *Stroke*. 1998;29:2189-2195
- MacLellan CL, Davies LM, Fingas MS, Colbourne F. The influence of hypothermia on outcome after intracerebral hemorrhage in rats. *Stroke*. 2006;37:1266-1270
- Guo F, Hua Y, Wang J, Keep RF, Xi G. Inhibition of carbonic anhydrase reduces brain injury after intracerebral hemorrhage. *Transl Stroke Res*. 2012;3:130-137
- 183. Chen Z, Xi G, Mao Y, Keep RF, Hua Y. Effects of progesterone and testosterone on ich-induced brain injury in rats. Acta Neurochir Suppl. 2011;111:289-293
- 184. Okauchi M, Hua Y, Keep RF, Morgenstern LB, Schallert T, Xi G. Deferoxamine treatment for intracerebral hemorrhage in aged rats: Therapeutic time window and optimal duration. *Stroke*. 2010;41:375-382
- 185. Zhou F, Chen G, Zhang J. Edaravone reduces brain oedema and attenuates cell death after intracerebral haemorrhage in mice. *Brain Inj.* 2009;23:353-357

- 186. Gebel JM, Jr., Jauch EC, Brott TG, Khoury J, Sauerbeck L, Salisbury S, Spilker J, Tomsick TA, Duldner J, Broderick JP. Relative edema volume is a predictor of outcome in patients with hyperacute spontaneous intracerebral hemorrhage. *Stroke*. 2002;33:2636-2641
- 187. Li N, Worthmann H, Heeren M, Schuppner R, Deb M, Tryc AB, Bueltmann E, Lanfermann H, Donnerstag F, Weissenborn K, Raab P. Temporal pattern of cytotoxic edema in the perihematomal region after intracerebral hemorrhage: A serial magnetic resonance imaging study. *Stroke*. 2013;44:1144-1146
- 188. Arima H, Wang JG, Huang Y, Heeley E, Skulina C, Parsons MW, Peng B, Li Q, Su S, Tao QL, Li YC, Jiang JD, Tai LW, Zhang JL, Xu E, Cheng Y, Morgenstern LB, Chalmers J, Anderson CS. Significance of perihematomal edema in acute intracerebral hemorrhage: The interact trial. *Neurology*. 2009;73:1963-1968
- 189. Mould WA, Carhuapoma JR, Muschelli J, Lane K, Morgan TC, McBee NA, Bistran-Hall AJ, Ullman NL, Vespa P, Martin NA, Awad I, Zuccarello M, Hanley DF. Minimally invasive surgery plus recombinant tissue-type plasminogen activator for intracerebral hemorrhage evacuation decreases perihematomal edema. *Stroke*. 2013;44:627-634
- 190. Hemorrhage. *Journal of Stroke and Cerebrovascular Diseases*. 1992;2:S119-S126
- 191. Johnston IH, Rowan JO, Harper AM, Jennett WB. Raised intracranial pressure and cerebral blood flow. 2. Supratentorial and infratentorial mass lesions in primates. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. 1973;36:161-170
- 192. Fodstad H, Kelly PJ, Buchfelder M. History of the cushing reflex. *Neurosurgery*. 2006;59:1132-1137; discussion 1137
- 193. Qureshi AI, Ezzeddine MA, Nasar A, Suri MF, Kirmani JF, Hussein HM, Divani AA, Reddi AS. Prevalence of elevated blood pressure in 563,704 adult patients with stroke presenting to the ed in the united states. *Am J Emerg Med.* 2007;25:32-38
- 194. Zhang Y, Reilly KH, Tong W, Xu T, Chen J, Bazzano LA, Qiao D, Ju Z, Chen CS, He J. Blood pressure and clinical outcome among patients with acute stroke in inner mongolia, china. *J Hypertens*. 2008;26:1446-1452
- 195. Rhodes P. *Fluid balance in obstetrics: A critical review*. Year Book Publishers, Inc.; 1960.
- 196. Clifton GL, Valadka AB, Aisuku IP, Okonkwo DO.Future of Rewarming in Therapeutic Hypothermia for Traumatic Brain Injury: A Personalized Plan. Ther Hypothermia and Temperature Man. 2011;1:3-7

- 197. Marion DW, Obrist WD, Carlier PM, Penrod LE, Darby JM. The use of moderate therapeutic hypothermia for patients with severe head injuries: A preliminary report. *J Neurosurg*. 1993;79:354-362
- 198. Clifton GL, Miller ER, Choi SC, Levin HS, McCauley S, Smith KR, Jr., Muizelaar JP, Wagner FC, Jr., Marion DW, Luerssen TG, Chesnut RM, Schwartz M. Lack of effect of induction of hypothermia after acute brain injury. N Engl J Med. 2001;344:556-563
- 199. Shiozaki T, Sugimoto H, Taneda M, Yoshida H, Iwai A, Yoshioka T, Sugimoto T. Effect of mild hypothermia on uncontrollable intracranial hypertension after severe head injury. *J Neurosurg*. 1993;79:363-368
- 200. Clifton GL, Valadka A, Zygun D, Coffey CS, Drever P, Fourwinds S, Janis LS, Wilde E, Taylor P, Harshman K, Conley A, Puccio A, Levin HS, McCauley SR, Bucholz RD, Smith KR, Schmidt JH, Scott JN, Yonas H, Okonkwo DO. Very early hypothermia induction in patients with severe brain injury (the national acute brain injury study: Hypothermia ii): A randomised trial. *Lancet Neurol*. 2011;10:131-139
- 201. Jiang JY, Xu W, Li WP, Gao GY, Bao YH, Liang YM, Luo QZ. Effect of long-term mild hypothermia or short-term mild hypothermia on outcome of patients with severe traumatic brain injury. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2006;26:771-776
- 202. Schwab S, Georgiadis D, Berrouschot J, Schellinger PD, Graffagnino C, Mayer SA. Feasibility and safety of moderate hypothermia after massive hemispheric infarction. *Stroke*. 2001;32:2033-2035
- 203. Povlishock JT, Wei EP. Posthypothermic rewarming considerations following traumatic brain injury. *J Neurotrauma*. 2009;26:333-340
- 204. Steen PA, Milde JH, Michenfelder JD. The detrimental effects of prolonged hypothermia and rewarming in the dog. *Anesthesiology*. 1980;52:224-230
- 205. Nirogi R, Kandikere V, Mudigonda K, Bhyrapuneni G, Muddana N, Saralaya R, Benade V. A simple and rapid method to collect the cerebrospinal fluid of rats and its application for the assessment of drug penetration into the central nervous system. *J Neurosci Methods*. 2009;178:116-119
- 206. Gong Y, Hua Y, Keep RF, Hoff JT, Xi G. Intracerebral hemorrhage: Effects of aging on brain edema and neurological deficits. *Stroke*. 2004;35:2571-2575

207. Yip R, Johnson C, Dallman PR. Age-related changes in laboratory values used in the diagnosis of anemia and iron deficiency. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 1984;39:427-436

Table 1. The total number of hours ICH animals spent 1 SD and 2 SD abovesham animals predicted brain water content on Day 3. This was also the case withPeak ICP. However, this was a post-hoc exploratory analysis and futureexperiments are required to appropriately assess these classifications with a largersample size.

Category	F - value	R^2	p-value
Hours above 1 SD of sham	22.49	0.529	≤ 0.001
Hours above 2 SD of sham	18.54	0.481	≤ 0.001
Peak ICP	6.4	0.242	0.02

Figure 1. In situations of low brain compliance, a given increase in volume causes a greater increase in pressure than if brain compliance was high. Thus, a nonlinear relationship exists between intracranial volume and pressure. This pressure-volume relationship is referred to the Monro-Kellie doctrine.



Figure 2. The cerebral autoregulation curve for an injured, normotensive and hypertensive individual. CBF remains constant over a given range in MAP. Outside the limits of cerebral autoregulation, CBF becomes passive to changes in MAP. The cerebral autoregulation curve for a hypertensive individual is shifted to the right. If brain injury occurs, cerebral autoregulation can become impaired.



Figure 3. (A) Cranial ICP apparatus fully implanted on animal. The plastic cylinder, made from a 5 cc syringe barrel protects and secures the PA-C10 probe. The whole assembly is secured with dental cement. (B) A filed 23 G needle shaft attached to PE20 tubing (left) fits snug into a modified nylon screw guide (right). Cannula as shown in the picture is used for epidural ICP monitoring. Cannulas extended 6.5 mm below the screw head are used for intraparenchymal ICP monitoring.



Figure 4. PART 1: Excluded animal from the EPI-ICH group. Solid line represents average ICP per hour. Dashed line represents average activity counts per hour. Graph suggests animal died approximately 24 hours after surgery, suffering from two ICP spikes at 16 hours (28 mm Hg) and 23 hours (21 mm Hg). Animal appeared to be hyperactive around 4 hours after surgery but hypoactive after 8 hours.



Figure 5. PART 1: Animal was excluded as a result of a notably smaller hematoma than other animals in the ICH groups. All ICH and SHAM data from Part 1 are also plotted for comparison. Excluded animal experienced a relatively higher ICP than SHAM but lower than ICH on the first day. Elevated ICP in this animal gradually fell to normal levels by the third day. This reinforces the sensitivity of the telemetry ICP monitoring system in measuring different sized hematomas. Values expressed as mm Hg (mean \pm SD).



Figure 6. PART 1: Severe ICH elevated ICP when ICP was measured in the intraparenchymal (center of the hematoma) and in the epidural space. No difference was found between the 2 locations of monitoring (p = 0.902). Values expressed in mm Hg (mean ± SD).



Figure 7. PART 1: Brain water content was increased 3 days after severe ICH in the ipsilateral and contralateral striatum and cortex. Asterisk (*) denotes a significant difference between groups ($p \le 0.05$). Values expressed as percentage (mean \pm SD).



Figure 8. PART 2: Severe ICH did not alter HR for 7 days from BL. Values expressed as percentage of baseline (mean \pm SD).



Figure 9. PART 2: Severe ICH increased ICP for 4 days. Values expressed as mm Hg (mean \pm SD).



Figure 10. PART 2: Severe ICH did not change systolic, MAP and diastolic pressure for 4 days. Values expressed as mm Hg (mean \pm SD).



Figure 11. PART 2: Severe ICH modestly reduced CPP on Day 1, 2 and 4.

Asterisk (*) denotes a significant difference between groups (p \leq 0.05). Values expressed as mm Hg (mean \pm SD).



Figure 12. PART 2: There was no relationship between lesion volume on Day 7 (*M*: 64.55 mm³ \pm *SD*: 21.47) and Peak ICP (R² = 0.647, p = 0.101) after severe ICH. Confidence bands are plotted with a 95% confidence interval.



Figure 13. PART 3: Moderate to severe ICH caused an increase in water content in select brain regions on Day 3. In the ipsilateral striatum and cortex, there was a significant difference between all groups. In the contralateral striatum, both methods of ICH (WB and COLLAG) increased water content but were not significantly different from each other. Asterisk (*) denotes a significant difference from SHAM ($p \le 0.05$). Pound symbol (#) denotes a significant difference from WB ($p \le 0.05$). Values expressed as percentage (mean ± SD).



Figure 14. PART 3: COLLAG increased ICP on Day 1 and 2 when compared to SHAM and on Day 2 and 3 when compared to WB. WB did not significantly increase ICP when compared to SHAM. Asterisk (*) denotes significant difference between all groups. Values expressed as mm Hg (mean \pm SD).



Figure 15. Data from Part 1 were pooled with Part 3. Line of best fit demonstrates a linear relationship between Day 3 water content and Day 3 ICP in ICH animals ($R^2 = 0.343$, $p \le 0.001$). The 95% confidence bands of the line of best fit are also plotted.



Figure 16. The total number of hours ICH animals spent 1 SD above sham animals was linearly correlated with brain water content on Day 3 ($R^2 = 0.529$, p ≤ 0.001). The 95% confidence bands of the line of best fit are also plotted. However, this was a post-hoc exploratory analysis and future experiments are required to appropriately assess this with a larger sample size.

